
A G E N D A

AGENDA – COMMISSION TO END HOMELESSNESS MEETING, WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 2, 2024 - PAGE 1 

REGULAR MEETING 
COMMISSION TO END HOMELESSNESS 

Wednesday, October 2, 2024, 1:00 P.M. 

County Conference Center 
Room 104/106 

425 West Santa Ana Boulevard, Santa Ana, CA 92701 
Meetings are broadcast live at https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCefbduRATllUBsne8nn8tJA 

COMMISSION MEMBERSHIP 

Commission Director 
Doug Becht, Director of Care Coordination 

Clerk of the Commission 
Valerie Sanchez, Chief Deputy Clerk 

This agenda contains a brief general description of each item to be considered. The Commission encourages public 
participation.  If you wish to speak on any item or during public comment, please complete a Speaker Request Form 
and provide to the Clerk at the dais. Speaker Forms are located next to the entrance doors. Except as otherwise 
provided by law, no action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda.  When addressing the Commission, 
please state your name (or pseudonym) for the record prior to providing your comments.  

Vicente Sarmiento, Chair 
Supervisor, Second District 

Donald P. Wagner 
Supervisor, Third District 

Jack Toan, Vice Chair 
Business Representative 

Jason Ivins 
Orange County Sheriff-Coroner Representative 

Todd Spitzer 
Orange County District Attorney 

Adam Hawley 
Chief of Police Representative 

Sean deMetropolis 
Municipal Fire Department Representative 

Jim Vanderpool 
North Service Planning Area Representative 

Monique Davis 
Business Representative 

Debra Rose 
South Service Planning Area Representative 

Lisa Kim 
Central Service Planning Area Representative 

Cecilia Bustamante-Pixa 
Hospital Representative 

Gina Cunningham 
Affordable Housing Development Representative 

Kelly Bruno-Nelson 
Medi-Cal Managed Care Health Plan Representative 

Richard Afable 
Behavioral Health Representative 

Susan Parks 
Philanthropic Leader Representative 

Benjamin Hurst 
Faith-Based Community Representative 

Paul Wyatt  
At-Large Representative 

Milo Peinemann 
At-Large Representative 

Robert Morse 
Continuum of Care Board Representative 

Maricela Rios-Faust 
Continuum of Care Board Representative 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.youtube.com%2Fchannel%2FUCefbduRATllUBsne8nn8tJA&data=05%7C01%7CNDempster%40ochca.com%7Cf6c2e19fcc3044a4b7ec08daa6fb8d17%7Ce4449a56cd3d40baae3225a63deaab3b%7C0%7C0%7C638005896589454377%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=dpstHv1emQ%2FavK6JqvEBZZCE%2FXW2rg%2FsXw94ZGFJY3Q%3D&reserved=0


A G E N D A  
 

AGENDA – COMMISSION TO END HOMELESSNESS MEETING, WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 2, 2024 - PAGE 2 

**In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, and County Language Access Policy, those 
requiring accommodation and/or interpreter services for this meeting should notify the Clerk of the 
Board's Office 72 hours prior to the meeting at (714) 834-2206. Requests received less than 72 hours prior 
to the meeting will still receive every effort to reasonably fulfill within the time provided** 
 

All supporting documentation is available for public review online at:  
https://ceo.ocgov.com/care-coordination/commission-end-homelessness  

and with Clerk of the Board of Supervisors located in the County Administration North Building, 
400 West Civic Center Drive, 6th Floor, Santa Ana, California 92701 

8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday 

 
Call to Order 

 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
Roll Call 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
At this time members of the public may address the Commission on any matter not on the agenda but within the 
subject matter jurisdiction of the Commission.   
 
DISCUSSION ITEM 
 
1. Office of Care Coordination Update 

a. Bylaw Ad Hoc 
b. 2025 Survey 
c. United States Interagency Council on Homelessness (USICH) Federal Homelessness 

Prevention Framework 
 

PRESENTATION  
 
2. Small-Scale Housing Units – Doug Becht, Director, Office of Care Coordination 

 
ACTION ITEM 

 
3. Receive and File Small-Scale Housing Unit Report. 

 
4. Approve Commission to End Homelessness minutes from the August 21, 2024, regular meeting. 
 
COMMISSION MEMBERS COMMENTS 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
NEXT REGULAR MEETING   December 11, 2024, 1:00 P.M.      

https://ceo.ocgov.com/care-coordination/commission-end-homelessness


Agenda Item 1  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ending Homelessness Before It Starts:  

A Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

U.S. Interagency Council on Homelessness 

September 2024 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         1 
 

Back to Top 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Click Below to Jump  

 

Acknowledgements……………............................................................................................................2 

Overview………………………………………………………………………………………………………...2 

Introduction………………………………………………………………………………………………..……4 

Terms and Concepts to Guide Prevention Strategies…………………………………………………..5 

Values to Guide Homelessness Prevention………………………………………………………………8 

Goals for Homelessness Prevention……………………………………………………………………….8 

Building a Community Approach to Homelessness Prevention………………………………..…...11 

Identify and Gather Partners………………….………….………………………………………………………………..12 

Utilize Data to Inform Your Planning………………………….………………………………………………………..16 

Map Services to Create Shared Understanding of Local Resources and Programs…………………….22 

Develop an Action Plan……………………………………………………………………………………………………….24 

Implement Plan, Track Outcomes, and Work Continuously to Improve……………………..……………25 

Homelessness Prevention Categories……………………………………………………………………27 

Prevention (Primary) Programs and Policies That Promote Stable Housing………………….…………29 

Diversion (Secondary) Programs That Help People Avoid Homelessness………..……………………….31 

Rehousing and Stabilization (Tertiary) Programs That Help People Quickly Get Into Housing and 

Promote Stability Once They Are Housed……..………………………………………………………………………32 

Promising Approaches to Homelessness Prevention…………………………………………………34 

Resources That Can Be Used for Prevention…………………..……………………………………….39 

Additional Resources………………………………………………………………………………………..42 

 

 

 

 

 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         2 
 

Back to Top 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 

This framework was developed at the recommendation of the White House Homelessness Prevention Working 

Group. We thank our partners at the U.S. departments of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), Health and 

Human Services (HHS), and Veterans Affairs (VA) for helping to inform the drafting. Corporation for 

Supportive Housing (CSH) provided administrative support, and USICH extends a special thanks to the people 

with lived experience of homelessness who shared their wisdom to inform the development of this framework. 

DISCLAIMER: This material is based upon work supported by funding under an award with the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). The substance and findings of the work are dedicated 

to the public. Neither the United States Government, nor any of its employees, makes any warranty, express or 

implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any 

information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately-

owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, 

trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, 

recommendation, or favoring by the U.S. Government or any agency thereof. Opinions expressed in this 

document are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official position of, or a position that is 

endorsed by, HUD or by any HUD program. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         3 
 

Back to Top 

OVERVIEW 

Building upon All In: The Federal Strategic Plan to Prevent and End Homelessness, a multi-year, interagency 

blueprint, and the System Planning: Framework for Homelessness Prevention, the Homelessness Prevention 

Framework is an actionable guide to help government agencies, Tribal nations, non-profits, funders, people 

with lived experience of homelessness or housing instability, and other partners with interest in preventing and 

ending homelessness (see full list below) to work together across systems, as well as within their own, to better 

support housing stability and prevent homelessness. Using the information in this guide, communities will be 

able to develop and implement a cross-system homelessness prevention strategy grounded in the expertise of 

people with lived experience of homelessness or housing instability, equity, efficiency, and effectiveness.  

This framework:  

• Provides recommendations for collaborating across systems to coordinate a community approach to 

homelessness prevention (Building A Community Approach to Homelessness Prevention) 

• Defines three categories of homelessness prevention that can be used to structure cross-sector resource 

mapping and prevention planning (Homelessness Prevention Categories) 

 

https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/All_In.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-System-Planning-A-Framework-for-Homelessness-Prevention.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         4 
 

Back to Top 

• Shares promising practices for homelessness prevention programs (Promising Approaches to 

Homelessness Prevention) 

• Details resources from multiple systems that can be used for homelessness prevention (Resources That 

Can Be Used for Prevention) 

This framework is intended for a wide range of audiences, including: 

• Federal, state, county, city, and territorial governments, Tribal nations, and other units of government 

• Systems, providers, staff, advocates, and others focused on housing, health, behavioral health, justice, 

education, employment, economic mobility, child welfare, other human services, and emergency 

services 

• Providers (including culturally-astute organizations) that support Veterans, LGBTQIA+1 individuals, 

families, children, youth, young adults, youth aging out of foster care, older adults, people with 

disabilities, survivors of violence and human trafficking, people exiting juvenile and adult corrections, 

and other populations 

• Philanthropic, corporate, and other funders 

• People who have experienced or are experiencing or at risk of homelessness or housing instability 

Note: This framework provides some common language and grounding that partners from different systems 

can work from to build a collaborative approach to prevention. We acknowledge that federal agencies and 

community-based organizations that work in various systems use different definitions (such as for 

homelessness) and terms specific to the programs, grants, and/or services they offer, which are not covered in 

this framework but are critical to local conversations. 

 

 

 

 

 
1 LGBTQIA+: Abbreviation for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender, Queer, Intersex, and Asexual. The additional “+” stands for all of 
the other identities not encompassed in the short acronym. 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         5 
 

Back to Top 

“The overall number of people experiencing homelessness will only go down if more people exit homelessness 

than enter it. Ending homelessness requires working on both fronts—rehousing people who are already 

homeless while preventing people from becoming homeless in the first place.” 

– All In: The Federal Strategic Plan to Prevent and End Homelessness 

INTRODUCTION 

Safe, stable, and affordable housing is critical to well-being and tied to many outcomes, including mental and 

physical health, safety, life expectancy, education, and financial well-being. In 2022, the United States 

Interagency Council on Homelessness (USICH) released All In: The Federal Strategic Plan to Prevent and End 

Homelessness, outlining a blueprint for federal action to support a future where everyone has a safe, stable, 

accessible, and affordable home, and no one experiences homelessness. All In recognizes that work to prevent 

homelessness before it begins is critical to this overall effort. In addition, All In recognizes that 

interdisciplinary, interagency, and intergovernmental action is required to effectively create a response 

comprehensive enough to address the complex problem of homelessness.  

The Homelessness Prevention Framework emphasizes the importance of proactive prevention and a 

collaborative, cross-system response. Communities have a wide range of resources, services, and programs that 

can support people in maintaining safe and stable housing, preventing homelessness, and navigating housing 

challenges without someone ever needing to enter the homelessness response system. These include universal 

supports such as broad anti-poverty programs, affordable housing, living wage jobs, as well as programs and 

resources that help people attain a livable income and meet basic needs, including workforce development and 

education programs, income supports, health care, and more. Although these universal programs require 

significant resources and political will to implement and maintain, they go a long way toward ensuring 

everyone has what they need to access safe, stable, and affordable housing.  

The homelessness response system differs by community, but often includes emergency shelters and housing 

resources prioritized for people with the greatest needs. It is designed to triage and support those in crisis when 

all other resources and options have been exhausted. The homelessness response system is intended to 

serve as a last resort, rather than the first response, as it is not designed to meet all the housing 

needs in a community.  

https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/All_In.pdf
https://www.usich.gov/
https://www.usich.gov/
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/All_In.pdf
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/All_In.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         6 
 

Back to Top 

This framework focuses on the prevention programs and strategies in the middle of the spectrum between 

universal supports and the homelessness response system. Prevention work, which take many different forms 

(as detailed in the Homelessness Prevention Categories section of this document), can and should be a part of 

the work of every sector and system that interacts with people at risk of or experiencing a housing crisis. 

This framework is designed as an actionable guide to help government agencies, Tribal nations, non-profits, 

funders, people with lived experience of housing instability and/or homelessness, and other partners with 

interest in preventing and ending homelessness (see more comprehensive list in the Overview) to work 

together across systems, as well as within their own, to better support housing stability and prevent 

homelessness. The framework is meant to aid prevention efforts by offering shared terms, values, goals, and 

definition of homelessness prevention categories; 

providing a series of actionable steps to help 

communities build a collective approach to 

prevention; and sharing promising approaches and 

resources that communities can consider as they 

work together to improve their local homelessness 

prevention efforts.  

This framework will not go into depth about the unique needs of specific populations, such as Veterans, 

families, youth and young people, older adults, people with disabilities, LGBTQIA+ persons, and survivors of 

violence and human trafficking. However, as communities use the action steps and context from this guide to 

build a community approach to homelessness prevention, it is crucial to include people with these identities 

and lived experiences and the organizations and systems that serve these populations to ensure that their 

unique needs are being considered and met through the community-wide approach to prevention.  

 

 

TERMS AND CONCEPTS TO GUIDE  

PREVENTION STRATEGIES 

Being stably housed (or having housing stability) means that an individual or family can stay in their housing 

over an extended period without being at immediate risk of eviction or otherwise having to leave. This includes 

having the financial security or stable income stream to maintain the housing (by paying the rent or mortgage, 

Supporting housing stability and 

preventing homelessness can and should 

be part of the work of every sector and 

system that interacts with people at risk of 

or experiencing a housing crisis. 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         7 
 

Back to Top 

utilities, and other costs necessary to keep the housing), being able to meet other obligations of the lease or 

mortgage, if applicable, and being able to meet their basic needs (e.g. food, clothes, medicine, etc.). 

A cross-system strategy on homelessness prevention is a plan that brings together partners from a 

variety of systems to support housing stability for the people in their community.  

Housing instability and homelessness are often experienced in conjunction with challenges related to health, 

employment, education, justice system involvement, and other factors. A cross-systems approach allows 

communities to provide a holistic response that addresses many different needs, while strategically focusing 

resources within and across systems. This strategic focusing can also preserve resources within institutions, 

allowing them to serve more people in need. In addition, cross-system strategies that take a “whole of 

community approach” to prevention can save money and improve outcomes in multiple systems by getting 

people access to what they need before they reach a crisis. For example, providing timely health and housing 

support for someone experiencing housing instability and medical issues will ensure that neither challenge 

exacerbates the other and that the individual can stay both housed and healthy.  

As stated by All In: “It is critical that people who have experienced or who are experiencing 

homelessness and housing instability lead and participate in the development and implementation 

of policies and programs.” People with lived experience and expertise are best positioned to identify 

what is working, what is not working, and solutions that meet the wants and needs of the 

community. They should be included as partners and decision makers throughout the process of 

developing, implementing, and evaluating homelessness prevention strategies, and compensated 

for their time and expertise. For more information and resources on how to engage and compensate 

people with lived experience, see the Identify and Gather Partners section. 

Policies and programs are both important to develop and implement as providers and people with lived 

experience work together to find ways to help people achieve and maintain housing stability.  

• Homelessness prevention policies are laws, regulations, or other administrative actions that aim to keep 

people from experiencing homelessness or housing instability.  

• Homelessness prevention programs provide resources and services to specific eligible households to 

help them regain stability, whether in their current housing or a new unit.  

https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/All_In.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         8 
 

Back to Top 

Risk and protective factors 

• Risk factors increase individuals’ likelihood of experiencing homelessness or housing instability. 

Nationally, studies indicate that certain factors increase risk, including previous experiences with 

homelessness and/or eviction, frequent moves, having a high amount of past due rent and/or severe 

rent burden, experiencing violence, experiences with the child welfare system, carceral involvement, 

and the lack of a high school degree or GED.i 

• Protective factors help reduce the chances that an individual or family will experience homelessness. 

These factors can include having a large social network, graduating from high school, having access to 

health care and human services, and receiving cash assistance or a housing subsidy.ii Policies and 

programs that strengthen and build protective factors can help households maintain or regain housing 

even in the face of multiple risk factors. 

Housing First is a proven approach that focuses on reducing barriers and connecting people experiencing 

homelessness to permanent housing as quickly as possible.iii In the context of homelessness prevention, 

Housing First principles can be applied by reducing barriers that keep people from retaining their housing or 

obtaining new housing. This approach can include ensuring that there are no sobriety requirements or other 

unnecessary conditions for entry into housing and services, as well as ensuring that program application 

processes are as simple and easy to complete as possible. It is also critical for information about the programs 

and applications to be accessible to those without internet, people with Limited English Proficiency and 

differing literacy levels, and people living with disabilities. Additionally, under Housing First, it is important for 

programs and providers to work with great urgency to help people access safe and stable housing as quickly as 

possible while centering the household’s choices and needs. For example, staff in a prevention program might 

hesitate to assist an individual or family with their choice to stay in or move to a specific housing situation 

because staff are worried that the household will be rent burdened (paying more than 30% of their income). In 

an ideal situation the program will be able to help the individual or family stay in or find housing that meets 

their wants and needs and does not leave them rent burdened. If that is not possible, however, a good way to 

apply a Housing First approach is to honor the choices of the household and then continue to support them in 

building greater stability through increasing income, searching for more sustainable, affordable housing 

options, or other solutions.  

 

 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         9 
 

Back to Top 

VALUES TO GUIDE HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION 

The Homelessness Prevention Framework is based on the same foundational pillars outlined in All In, which 

can assist in guiding community efforts to develop and implement cross-system plans to prevent homelessness:  

Equity Evidence Collaboration 

Lead with equity to address 

racial and other disparities 

among people experiencing 

homelessness.  

Use data and evidence to make 

decisions by grounding action 

in research, quantitative and 

qualitative data, and the 

perspectives of people who are 

experiencing or have 

experienced homelessness. 

Collaborate at all levels to break 

down silos between federal, state, 

local, Tribal, and territorial 

governments; public, private, and 

philanthropic sectors; and people 

who are experiencing or have 

experienced homelessness. 

 

 

GOALS FOR HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION 

There are three overall goals for communities to keep in mind when setting goals and thinking about what 

success looks like for prevention strategies and programs: 

• Identify people who are at risk of homelessness and help them stay in their home or quickly settle into a 

new one  

• Tailor the type and level of resources based on need 

• Scale programs appropriately  

 

Identify People Who Are At Risk of Homelessness and Help Them Stay 

in Their Home or Quickly Settle Into a New One  

Many people who are experiencing or at risk of homelessness do not know about prevention assistance that 

might be available to them and/or do not seek out support until they are on the verge of entering emergency 

https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/All_In.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         10 
 

Back to Top 

shelter or experiencing unsheltered homelessness. To build a more proactive, responsive system, communities 

can do the following:  

● Work to identify and support people who are at risk before they enter the homelessness 

response system. Screening for housing status in systems such as health care, human services, 

mental health and substance use, child welfare, justice, education, employment, income support, and 

more can help to identify people at risk of homelessness and connect them with prevention resources 

and services so that they never have to experience homelessness or enter the homelessness response 

system. For more, see the Promising Approaches section.  

● Provide clear, easy to access, up-to-date information on available programs and 

resources to people at risk of or experiencing housing instability or homelessness, as well as the 

systems and organizations who work with them. This can include providing transparent information in 

multiple forms (e.g. online, printed flyers, shared by service providers), updating it regularly, and 

making it accessible to people with Limited English Proficiency and differing literacy levels, people 

living with disabilities, and people who do not have access to the internet.  

● Reduce barriers to accessing prevention programs (e.g. by simplifying and streamlining 

application processes, finding ways to expedite application processing, and reducing requirements for 

documentation as much as possible while still complying with regulations) to help people access 

prevention support when they need it, before the housing crisis deepens.  

 

Tailor the Type and Level of Resources Based on Need 

Many low-income households experience housing insecurity and housing crises, but not all of them will 

experience homelessness. Among those likely to experience homelessness are some who can stabilize in 

housing with minimal support, such as conflict mediation or a small amount of one-time financial help. Others 

may need more support to gain or regain housing stability, such as assistance from a housing navigator to find 

a new home and a few months of rental assistance. The Homelessness Prevention Categories section of this 

document describes categories of prevention programs based on different needs and housing situations, and 

the Resources That Can Be Used for Prevention section highlights different programs that may be available 

locally. To meet varying needs for homelessness prevention, communities can: 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         11 
 

Back to Top 

● Offer a range of prevention programs that serve the people who are most likely to experience 

homelessness (along with robust universal supports that help ensure housing stability and well-being 

for a broader population). 

● Ensure that people are matched to resources based on what they need to regain housing 

stability. See the Utilize Data to Inform Your Planning section of this document for more on how to 

determine who is at the greatest risk of experiencing homelessness in your community. 

● Provide accessible services, including offering reasonable accommodations and modifications 

needed to ensure that individuals with disabilities, people with Limited English Proficiency and 

differing literacy levels, and others who need tailored assistance are served effectively. 

 

Scale Programs Appropriately 

Prevention strategies and programs are effective when they are funded at a level to have a meaningful impact 

on the people they are intended to serve. Communities can focus on two important ways to ensure that their 

strategies and programs are appropriately scaled:  

● Bringing in partners from multiple systems to increase the resources and programs available to 

help people maintain or reestablish housing stability. This can include identifying programs that offer 

universal supports, such as financial assistance for people with low or no incomes, which can help to 

keep people from experiencing housing instability and/or can provide support for people already at risk 

of or experiencing homelessness. Although these resources are often already available in a community, 

bringing the partners together to find ways to make it easier for people who are at risk of housing 

instability or homelessness to learn about and access them can help the community bring its prevention 

efforts to scale. For more on universal supports, see the first paragraph of the Homeless Prevention 

Categories section of this document.  

● Appropriately and strategically match resources to local needs. Some of the funds used for 

homelessness prevention have great flexibility in how they can be used, but they are not always 

available in an amount that can meet the needs of all people experiencing or at risk of housing 

instability or homelessness in a community. If there are not enough resources within a particular 

funding stream available to have a meaningful impact on the population that it is meant for, and there 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         12 
 

Back to Top 

are no options for increasing those resources, the community might consider narrowing the eligibility 

criteria to better match the level of resources available. The following graphic, from How to Design, 

Scale, and Fund a Homelessness Prevention Program, can help planners visualize the importance of 

proper scaling and support a community-level discussion about scaling and focusing resources.  

 

 

When engaging in the system mapping and action planning activities described in Building A Community 

Approach to Homelessness Prevention, communities can look at how existing prevention programs are scaled 

and where there are opportunities both to bring in additional resources and appropriately focus eligibility 

criteria. 

 

 

BUILDING A COMMUNITY APPROACH TO 

HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION 

Many systems (such as homelessness, health, human services, behavioral health, education, employment, 

justice, Veterans, and more) serve people who are experiencing or at risk of homelessness. Some of these 

systems capture information on housing status, including when housing stability is at risk, and some have 

Focus  

Population 

 

Available 

Resource 

Improperly Scaled Strategy       Scaled Strategy 

https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-How-to-Design-Scale-and-Fund-a-Homelessness-Prevention-Program.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-How-to-Design-Scale-and-Fund-a-Homelessness-Prevention-Program.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         13 
 

Back to Top 

programs to address housing instability, but they are often siloed. There is not yet a strong infrastructure in 

place nationally or in many local communities to coordinate resources and access so that people can get what 

they need when they need it. To develop a community-wide, cross-system approach to prevent homelessness, 

partners can work together using the following steps:  

1. Identify and Gather Partners 

2. Utilize Data to Inform Your Planning 

3. Map Services to Create Shared Understanding of Local Prevention Resources and Programs 

4. Develop an Action Plan 

5. Implement Plan, Track Outcomes, and Work Continuously to Improve  

 

 

1. Identify and Gather Partners  

When developing a cross-system approach to prevent homelessness, it is critical to bring together a wide 

variety of partners from various sectors, including people with lived experience of homelessness and housing 

instability, in co-designing a cross-system strategy that meets the needs in your community. When assembling 

a team for cross-system collaboration and planning around homelessness prevention, consider the following 

key groups:  

People with Lived Experience: People with lived experience of homelessness and housing instability, 

including people from groups overrepresented among people experiencing homelessness, are critical partners 

with valuable expertise who should be a part of the process of designing and implementing the prevention plan. 

People with lived experience can provide insight into various components of different systems and programs 

and help partners understand challenges, wants and needs, and solutions. These individuals should be 

included in the process as decision-makers, compensated for their time and expertise, and supported to ensure 

they are able to participate (for example, child care and transportation can be provided, meetings can be 

scheduled at a time and location that works for group members with lived experience who may be working 

during regular business hours, and materials can be provided ahead of time for review). For more on 

partnering with and compensating people with lived experience and expertise, see: Engaging People with Lived 

https://aspe.hhs.gov/lived-experience


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         14 
 

Back to Top 

Experience to Improve Federal Research, Policy, and Practice and Paying People with Lived Experience and 

Expertise. 

Funders and Providers: Identify who funds various parts of your current homelessness prevention system 

and which agencies are involved in program delivery. These might include homelessness system funders and 

coordinators such as Continuums of Care (find your local CoC here: CoC Contacts), government agencies that 

manage homelessness and housing programs, philanthropic partners, as well as service providers who offer 

programs including street outreach, emergency shelter, transitional housing, and permanent housing.  

Other Systems: Many other systems serve people with low incomes who may be experiencing housing 

instability or are already experiencing homelessness and are critical to the conversations about better ways to 

support housing stability across the community. These partners may include:  

● State, local, Tribal, and territorial government entities (e.g. Departments of Social Services, Human 

Services, or Health) which can coordinate access to programs and resources such as the Supplemental 

Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP), the Supplemental Program for Women, Infants, and Children 

(WIC), Supplemental Security Income (SSI) and Social Security Disability Insurance (SSDI), utility 

assistance, and other safety-net programs.  

● Agencies that provide identification documents (such as Department of Motor Vehicles offices) can be 

key partners in supporting access to homelessness prevention by lowering barriers to obtaining the 

identification required to access some programs (such as reducing fees and expediting requests for 

people who are experiencing or at risk of homelessness or housing instability).  

● Agencies and non-profits with SSI/SSDI Outreach, Access, and Recovery (SOAR) programs, which help 

increase access to Social Security disability benefits. Find SOAR in your state here: State Directory. 

● The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) and other Veteran-serving programs. Find VA locations 

here: Find VA Locations.  

● The justice system and legal services organizations, such as legal aid programs. 

● Law enforcement and first responders. 

https://aspe.hhs.gov/lived-experience
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-Paying-People-with-Lived-Experience-and-Expertise.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-Paying-People-with-Lived-Experience-and-Expertise.pdf
https://www.hudexchange.info/housing-and-homeless-assistance/homeless-help/
https://soarworks.samhsa.gov/state-directory
https://www.va.gov/find-locations/
https://www.lsc.gov/about-lsc/who-we-are


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         15 
 

Back to Top 

● Health and behavioral health providers and community health workers, especially Federally Qualified 

Health Centers, Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinics, Indian Health Services health care 

facilities, and Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)-funded 

behavioral health services. 

● Primary Care Associations, state- and local- public health officials, and other health system 

organizations and leaders.  

● Providers that serve survivors of domestic violence, dating violence, stalking, sexual assault, and human 

trafficking. Find programs here: Local Resources - Office on Violence Against Women, Office for 

Victims of Crime-Funded Human Trafficking Services and the Office of Family Violence Prevention and 

Services. 

● Child welfare, including Public Child Welfare Agencies.  

● Educational systems and programs focused on children and youth who are experiencing homelessness 

and eligible to attend public school, including activities funded under the McKinney-Vento Education 

for Homeless Children and Youths (EHCY) Program, the Title I, Part A Local Education Agency (LEA) 

homeless-set aside, and Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) child find requirements. For 

State-level data and contact information for Homeless Education State Coordinators and local liaisons, 

see: Data – National Center for Homeless Education.  

● Early childhood programs, such as child care assistance funded by the Child Care and Development 

Fund (CCDF), which serves children up to age 13 from low-income families; Head Start, which serves 

young children from low-income families; and Federal TRIO programs, which serve low-income and 

first generation throughout the educational pipeline. Find local programs here: CCDF State and 

Territory Grantees, Head Start Center Locator, and TRIO Project Explorer.  

● The Family and Youth Services Bureau (FYSB), of the Administration for Children and Families, funds 

a variety of programs and services that support youth and young adults and their families to achieve 

social and emotional well-being, permanent connections, education or employment, and stable housing. 

Find local programs here: Grantees of the Family and Youth Services Bureau.  

https://bphc.hrsa.gov/about-health-center-program/what-health-center
https://bphc.hrsa.gov/about-health-center-program/what-health-center
https://www.samhsa.gov/certified-community-behavioral-health-clinics
https://www.ihs.gov/locations/
https://www.ihs.gov/locations/
https://www.samhsa.gov/resource/dbhis/behavioral-health-treatment-services-locator
https://www.samhsa.gov/resource/dbhis/behavioral-health-treatment-services-locator
https://www.justice.gov/ovw/local-resources
https://ovc.ojp.gov/program/human-trafficking/map
https://ovc.ojp.gov/program/human-trafficking/map
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofvps
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofvps
https://nche.ed.gov/data/
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/occ/contact-information/state-and-territory-child-care-and-development-fund-administrators
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/occ/contact-information/state-and-territory-child-care-and-development-fund-administrators
https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/center-locator
https://ope.ed.gov/programs/trio/trioexplorer/
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/fysb/map/grantees-family-and-youth-services-bureau


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         16 
 

Back to Top 

● Academic institutions and other groups conduct and publish research to advance the development of 

knowledge and inform social systems, and some have programs and/or graduate students that work 

with or may be open to working with local human services organizations focused on housing and 

homelessness. It can be particularly helpful to efforts to advance racial equity in your community to 

seek out research and partnerships with organizations and publications that are particularly focused on 

social justice and the inclusion of researchers who are Black, Indigenous, or other people of color and 

from other historically marginalized groups. 

● The Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) program, of the Administration for Children and 

Families, provides states and territories with flexibility in operating programs designed to help families 

with low incomes build family economic mobility. States use TANF to fund monthly cash assistance 

payments to eligible families with children, as well as a wide range of services, including supports 

addressing housing instability. Find state programs here: TANF Program Contact Information. 

● Affordable housing providers, such as Public Housing Agencies (PHAs), which provide housing and 

rental assistance for low-income families, the elderly, and persons with disabilities. Find your local 

PHA(s) here: PHA Contact Information. To find other affordable and special needs housing in your 

area, use the HUD Resource Locator.  

● Community Action Associations (CAAs) provide a range of services for families and individuals with low 

incomes. Find your local CAA here: Find Your CAA. 

● Culturally-astute organizations and service providers offer affirming, inclusive, culturally responsive 

services. They are often led and staffed by and focus on specific considerations for people from 

particular communities, such as specific racial or ethnic groups or LGBTQIA+ persons. For example, 

the Office of Family Violence Prevention and Services (OFVPS) at the U. S. Department of Health and 

Human Services (HHS), Administration for Children and Families (ACF), funds 35 Culturally Specific 

Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault (CDVSA) grants found here: CDVSA Grants. 

● The Emergency Food and Shelter Program (EFSP) provides shelter, food, and services to individuals 

and families experiencing or at risk of hunger and/or homelessness. The EFSP is managed by a 

National Board and local boards. To find local organizations funded by the EFSP, see: EFSP Website 

and search under ‘Funded Organizations’ for your state. 

https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofa/map/about/help-families
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/pha/contacts
https://resources.hud.gov/
https://communityactionpartnership.com/find-a-cap/
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofvps/news/csdvsarecipients
https://www.fema.gov/grants/emergency-food-and-shelter-program
https://www.efsp.unitedway.org/efsp/website/websiteContents/index.cfm?template=qualify.cfm


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         17 
 

Back to Top 

● Non-profit organizations and philanthropic partners that address food insecurity and other basic 

human needs for people with low incomes include organizations and programs such as Meals on 

Wheels, food banks and pantries, soup kitchens and other organizations that provide meal services, and 

diaper banks.  

● Federal agencies, community organizations, and non-profit partners provide language access services 

(translation and interpretation) and resources to meet the needs of Limited English Proficiency (LEP) 

persons; additional resources can be found at LEP.gov. 

● Employment programs. The Department of Labor has a variety of Program Areas, with several 

resources, tools, and programs, including specialized assistance for special populations, such as the 

Homeless Veterans' Reintegration Program. In addition, One Stop Career Centers/American Job 

Centers provide tools, resources, computer access, and more for job seekers. The Department of Labor’s 

Job Corps program is the nation’s largest residential vocational training program with 123 centers 

nationwide to house and train youth. 

● Organizations that support older adults and people with disabilities. Find local agencies here: Aging and 

Disability Networks, Centers for Independent Living (CILs), Aging and Disability Resource Centers, and 

Area Agencies on Aging. 

● The Department of Housing and Urban Development’s Housing Opportunities for Persons with AIDS 

(HOPWA) program provides grants to communities, states, and nonprofit organizations for projects 

that benefit low-income persons living with HIV/AIDS and their families. 

● Reentry support organizations and correctional institutions. 

 

2. Utilize Data to Inform Your Planning  

To understand how best to focus prevention resources locally, partners can work together to integrate and 

analyze their data (see list of sources to consider below) to answer questions that may include: 

● Which factors put individuals or families in our community at the greatest risk of experiencing 

homelessness?  

https://www.mealsonwheelsamerica.org/
https://www.mealsonwheelsamerica.org/
https://www.lep.gov/
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/eta/program-areas
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/vets/programs/hvrp
https://www.careeronestop.org/LocalHelp/service-locator.aspx
https://www.careeronestop.org/LocalHelp/service-locator.aspx
https://www.dol.gov/agencies/eta/jobcorps
https://acl.gov/programs/aging-and-disability-networks
https://acl.gov/programs/aging-and-disability-networks
https://acl.gov/programs/aging-and-disability-networks/centers-independent-living
https://acl.gov/programs/aging-and-disability-networks/aging-and-disability-resource-centers
https://acl.gov/programs/aging-and-disability-networks/area-agencies-aging
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hopwa/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hopwa/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         18 
 

Back to Top 

● What are the outcomes of current prevention-related programs?  

● Who is currently accessing prevention services, and are there groups who are in need but are not being 

served by existing programs? For example, is our community looking at people served by all the 

different community partners listed in the Identify and Gather Partners section when thinking about 

homelessness prevention? 

● What racial and/or ethnic inequities are we seeing in our community among people experiencing or at 

risk of homelessness, and how can we design programs that advance equity, consistent with applicable 

law? 

Data Sources to Consider  

As the identified partners, including people with lived experience of homelessness or housing instability, begin 

their planning, it is important to understand what data exist in other systems and what needs to be collected to 

better understand and respond to local needs. Key sources of information that can help inform planning 

include: 

● Qualitative data gathered from people who have experienced homelessness or housing 

instability will provide the most impactful information about what is working locally, what is not 

working, where there are gaps, and what can be done to design a cross-system prevention strategy that 

is responsive to local needs. Communities can use listening circles, listening/feedback sessions, focus 

groups, interviews, and/or other methods to gather information to use in the development of their plan. 

As noted in the Identify and Gather Partners, all people with lived experience who are engaged should 

be compensated for their time and expertise and supported to ensure they can participate.  

● Information from the homelessness response system can help community partners understand 

more about the scale, trends, characteristics, and pathways of people who are experiencing housing 

instability or homelessness. There are a variety of sources available, including:  

o Client-level data and data on the provision of housing and services collected by the Homeless 

Management Information System (HMIS) and the Housing Inventory Count (HIC), a point-in-

time inventory of provider programs within a CoC that provide beds and units dedicated to serve 

people experiencing homelessness. 

https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hmis/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hmis/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hdx/guides/pit-hic/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         19 
 

Back to Top 

o The Annual Homeless Assessment Report (AHAR) which provides nationwide estimates of 

homelessness, including information about the demographic characteristics of people 

experiencing homelessness. 

o The Point in Time count, which provides a snapshot of people experiencing homelessness on a 

single night each year. Find your local data here: CoC Homeless Populations and Subpopulations 

Reports. 

o The Longitudinal Systems Analysis (LSA) tracks performance based on certain critical measures. 

Stella P is an interactive tool that visualizes LSA data and makes it easier to see racial inequities, 

pathways through different programs, and other helpful information.  

o Navigating Homelessness and Housing Needs Data: Tailoring and Driving Local Solutions is a 

useful guide that can help people outside of the homelessness response system better understand 

some of the key data points around homelessness and housing needs. To find out more about your 

local CoC data, reach out to the CoC lead and/or the HMIS Lead listed here: Grantee Contact 

Information - HUD Exchange.  

o The Runaway and Homeless Youth Homeless Management Information System (RHY-HMIS) 

collects client-level data specifically on youth and young adults, including services received, school 

and education status, and safe and appropriate exits from programs. 

● State and Local Educational Agency data can help communities understand the scope and scale 

of homelessness among youth and families with children, as well as characteristics of students 

experiencing homelessness, such as primary nighttime residence type, populations, and more. For more 

see: Data – National Center for Homeless Education and Ed Data Express.  

● Other data focused on child and youth homelessness and housing instability, including: 

o Chapin Hall has a collection of data reports focused on addressing youth homelessness in the U.S., 

including populations that are disproportionately affected, such as rural, LGBTQIA2S+, and 

pregnant and parenting youth. 

https://www.hudexchange.info/hdx/guides/ahar/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/coc/coc-homeless-populations-and-subpopulations-reports/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/coc/coc-homeless-populations-and-subpopulations-reports/
https://www.hudexchange.info/homelessness-assistance/stella-and-system-modeling/
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/Navigating-Homelessness-Housing-Needs-Data-2020-update.pdf
https://www.hudexchange.info/grantees/contacts/
https://www.hudexchange.info/grantees/contacts/
https://nche.ed.gov/data/
https://eddataexpress.ed.gov/
https://www.chapinhall.org/impact_area/youth-homelessness/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         20 
 

Back to Top 

o SchoolHouse Connection provides Child and Youth Homelessness Data taken from Local      

Education Agencies (when available) that can be sorted by State, Congressional District, County, 

and/or School District. 

o The Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System (YRBSS) from the Centers for Disease Control and 

Prevention provides information on the prevalence of behaviors of students that can lead to poor 

health (and in some cases could put them at higher risk of experiencing homelessness or housing 

instability). 

● Census data can provide some specifics on people experiencing homelessness, including information 

in the PCT19, Group Quarters Population by Sex by Age Group by Quarters table. 

● Court records on eviction filings and outcomes can identify zip codes and other geographic 

groupings where eviction filings and judgements occur disproportionately, which can help to identify 

possible focus areas. For more, see: Eviction Map & Data. 

● Corrections system data from jails and prisons, including the number of people who have received 

discharge planning to prevent homelessness, can help to identify the number of people exiting 

institutions who are at risk of housing instability.  

● Emergency response systems, including 911 centers, police, fire, Emergency Medical Services, and 

Emergency Department reporting can be aggregated and analyzed to identify gaps in the emergency 

response, public health, and social services systems that can be used to inform prevention efforts.  

● The Department of Veterans Affairs has data on Veterans experiencing homelessness. Although 

local data are not publicly accessible, data use agreements can be created (as appropriate) to inform 

prevention planning efforts.  

● Neighborhood data from the American Community Survey (ACS) can be used to geotarget 

prevention funds to areas with high risks and needs. For example, Mapping Neighborhoods with the 

Highest Risk of Housing Instability and Homelessness looked at a variety of ACS data to identify 

neighborhoods to prioritize for Emergency Rental Assistance Funds. 

● Information from programs that serve low-income individuals (such as Temporary Assistance 

for Needy Families, Head Start, Medicaid, the Health Center Program, and Special Supplemental 

https://tableau.dsc.umich.edu/t/UM-Public/views/National_State_Local_Child_and_Youth_Homelessness_Data_Profiles/NationalStateLocalstory?%3Adisplay_count=n&%3Aembed=y&%3AisGuestRedirectFromVizportal=y&%3Aorigin=viz_share_link&%3AshowAppBanner=false&%3AshowVizHome=n
https://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/data/yrbs/index.htm
https://data.census.gov/table/DECENNIALDHC2020.PCT19?q=PCT19
https://www.urban.org/data-tools/mapping-neighborhoods-highest-risk-housing-instability-and-homelessness
https://www.urban.org/data-tools/mapping-neighborhoods-highest-risk-housing-instability-and-homelessness
https://bphc.hrsa.gov/about-health-center-program


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         21 
 

Back to Top 

Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children) including how many are served, any information 

collected on housing status, and more can help provide additional context on local needs for 

homelessness prevention.  

● The Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program (RWHAP) Compass Dashboard provides visualizations 

on the reach, impact, and outcomes of the RWHAP, including housing. 

● The Health Resources Services Administration maintains data on Medically underserved areas and 

other relevant information.  

● Community Needs Assessments and Plans: Many different programs require partners to engage 

in community needs assessments processes. Reviewing these assessments can be helpful when planning 

for prevention efforts to avoid duplicating work that has been done recently. Although the specific 

geographic boundaries and focus areas may not always align with what the partners are looking for, 

there is likely still information that can be helpful for planning efforts. Examples include:  

o Consolidated Plans, done by states and local jurisdictions and informed by consultation with 

community partners and citizens. Find your local Consolidated Plan here: CPD Consolidated 

Plans, Annual Action Plans, and CAPERs. 

o Community Action Needs Assessments are required by Community Services Block Grant (CSBG) 

to determine funding priorities. Contact your local Community Action Agency to request the most 

current needs assessment and community action plan. 

o Community Health Assessments (CHAs), done by state, Tribal, local, or territorial public health 

agencies, identify key health needs and issues, including inequities, through a collaborative, multi-

sector process built on strong community engagement.  

o Community Health Needs Assessments assess local health needs, including social, behavioral, and 

environmental factors influencing health. These assessments are completed by nonprofit hospitals 

in partnership with local public health departments, members of medically underserved, low 

income, and other populations served by the hospital, and other partners. 

o Family Violence Prevention and Services Act (FVPSA) Statewide Needs Assessments. Under 

FVPSA statute, a state’s designated Domestic Violence Coalition is required to develop a statewide 

https://ryanwhite.hrsa.gov/data/dashboard
https://data.hrsa.gov/tools/shortage-area/mua-find
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/consolidated-plan/consolidated-plan-process-grant-programs-and-related-hud-programs/
https://cpd.hud.gov/cpd-public/consolidated-plans
https://cpd.hud.gov/cpd-public/consolidated-plans
https://communityactionpartnership.com/find-a-cap/
https://www.cdc.gov/public-health-gateway/php/public-health-strategy/?CDC_AAref_Val=https://www.cdc.gov/publichealthgateway/cha/index.html
https://www.irs.gov/charities-non-profits/community-health-needs-assessment-for-charitable-hospital-organizations-section-501r3
https://nnedv.org/resources-library/state-plans/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         22 
 

Back to Top 

needs assessment to inform and support the state’s plan for distributing FVPSA funds. These 

needs assessments engage a broad spectrum of community partners to provide a detailed 

overview of the community needs across the state. 

o Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program (RWHAP) Needs Assessments, conducted by RWHAP 

metropolitan planning councils, include information on the needs of people with HIV and current 

resources to meet these needs. 

o State Plan on Aging: Section 307(a) of the Older Americans Act requires each state agency to 

develop a State Plan on Aging. The State Plan on Aging is a blueprint for state government, local 

government, the private sector, and philanthropic organizations to use to prepare the state to be 

responsive to the needs of older adults. Plans are developed in collaboration with partners and 

outline state goals. Find your plan here: Map of State Plans on Aging and tools here: Tools for 

Planning. 

o State Plan for Independent Living: Each state and U.S. territory is required to maintain a 

statewide independent living council (SILC). The Council and the Centers for Independent Living 

(CILs) within the state develop a State Plan for Independent Living (SPIL). The SPIL is a 

document required by law that indicates how the Independent Living Network is going to improve 

independent living services for individuals with disabilities over the next three years. It identifies 

the needs and priorities of consumers, providers, and other partners and sets forth goals and 

objectives to respond to them. 

o Project CHALENG (Community Homelessness Assessment, Local Education and Networking 

Groups) surveys, conducted annually, assess local challenges faced by Veterans experiencing 

homelessness, identify unmet needs, and encourage partnership action to meet the needs.  

o Head Start programs utilize a Community Assessment Matrix to identify the needs of eligible (low 

income) families in the area, including those experiencing or at risk of homelessness. 

o Community Master Plans, which provide guidance on land use decisions, can provide helpful 

context on local needs and priorities.  

https://acl.gov/about-acl/administration-aging-program-instructions
https://www.advancingstates.org/initiatives/aging-policy-and-programs/map-state-plans-aging
https://www.advancingstates.org/initiatives/aging-policy-and-programs/tools-planning
https://www.advancingstates.org/initiatives/aging-policy-and-programs/tools-planning
https://acl.gov/programs/aging-and-disability-networks/statewide-independent-living-councils
https://acl.gov/sites/default/files/programs/2023-05/0044%2520SPIL%2520Instrument%2520and%2520Instructions%2520Final.docx
https://www.va.gov/homeless/chaleng.asp
https://www.va.gov/homeless/chaleng.asp
https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/program-planning/article/community-assessment-matrix


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         23 
 

Back to Top 

Using Data to Create Equitable Systems 

Racism and oppression and the ways in which it has been embedded in systems, processes, and practices have 

resulted in deep racial inequities and other inequities in who experiences homelessness as well as many of the 

factors that put people at risk for housing instability and homelessness. For example, Hispanic or Latino, 

Black, American Indian and Alaska Native, and Native Hawaiian and Other Pacific Islander groups are all 

overrepresented among people experiencing homelessness, as illustrated in USICH’s Homelessness Data & 

Trends. It is beneficial for communities to work to understand the impact of race, ethnicity, socioeconomic 

status, disability, Limited English Proficiency, gender identity and sexual orientation, religious affiliation, and 

other identities on risk of homelessness and accessibility of local programs when analyzing data.2 

 

3. Map Services to Create Shared Understanding of Local Prevention 

Resources & Programs 

Identifying what resources are available in your local community for prevention and gaining a better 

understanding of them and how they are currently being used will give partners a starting place for what might 

be possible to better coordinate and build out a community approach to homelessness prevention. There is 

often great flexibility in how resources for prevention can be used, so it is important to review periodically to 

ensure they are being used to their maximum ability in coordination with the other sources.  

The chart included in Resources That Can Be Used for Prevention can give you a sense of which systems and 

resources to start looking into locally, but there may be a variety of other local, county, state, private, or other 

resources available as well.  

To build out a ‘map’ of what is available, start with the following questions:  

● What programs are available in our community?  

● Who is eligible for each program, and how are households prioritized for assistance, if demand is higher 

than supply?  

● How do people in need find and get access to each program?  

 
2 Guidance on how to do this work can be found in the following resources: The Alliance's Racial Equity Network Toolkit - National 
Alliance to End Homelessness and Data & Equity: Using the Data You Have 

https://www.usich.gov/guidance-reports-data/data-trends
https://www.usich.gov/guidance-reports-data/data-trends
https://endhomelessness.org/resource/the-alliances-racial-equity-network-toolkit/
https://endhomelessness.org/resource/the-alliances-racial-equity-network-toolkit/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/6082/covid19-homeless-system-response-data-equity-using-the-data-you-have/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         24 
 

Back to Top 

● Is there a centralized point in the  community (such as a 211 phone line) that people can contact to find 

information about/referrals to different programs?  

● Are access points, programs, information, and other materials accessible for people with disabilities, 

Limited English Proficiency, and differing literacy levels? 

● Are there ways that people interacting with specific systems, such as justice, health, and education 

connect with resources available through that system, or others?  

● How and when do referrals happen between partners in different systems? 

 

4. Develop an Action Plan 

Using the data gathered on needs and the information about available resources, the cross-system team can 

Develop an Action Plan that: 

● Identifies opportunities to increase cross-system coordination 

● Is developed in partnership with people with lived experience who represent the diversity of people at 

risk, are decision-makers in the process, and are compensated for their time and expertise 

● Modifies how current resources are being utilized to maximize impact 

● Builds on/scales housing stability and prevention services that are working 

● Develops new strategies to fill system gaps 

● Diagnoses systemic inequities and advances racial equity 

It can be beneficial to integrate the action plan with other relevant local plans to avoid duplication of efforts 

and maximize impact.  

Tips and Resources for Developing an Action Plan:  

● For guidance on developing measurable goals and strategies for the action plan, see: Writing 

Measurable Goals and Developing Goals and Strategies for Target Areas.  

https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Writing-Measurable-Goals.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Writing-Measurable-Goals.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Developing-Goals-And-Strategies-For-Target-Areas.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         25 
 

Back to Top 

● See the section on Promising Approaches for ideas on what might be adapted locally, and the sections 

on Values and Goals as a reminder of the context. In addition, A Roadmap to Prevent Eviction and 

Promote Housing Stability provides a useful list of strategies that can be used to support homelessness 

prevention, along with examples and models that can help inform the development of goals and action 

steps.  

● When designing the overall strategy, individual programs and monitoring implementation, use a Racial 

Equity Impact Assessment to identify ways to reduce disparate impacts and advance equity, consistent 

with applicable law. For more, see: Rehousing Activation and Racial Equity Part 1: Equity as the 

Foundation and Equity Assessment Tip Sheet. The plan can include action steps around increasing 

cross-system coordination and referrals as well as steps around work to scale, focus, or otherwise 

update existing programs as appropriate to meet local needs, and develop new programs and strategies 

to fill gaps.  

● Examples of prevention-related action planning steps: COVID-19 Homeless System Response: How to 

Design, Scale, and Fund a Homelessness Prevention Program; RHY-PDP Prevention Plan Template; 

Building Housing Stability Infrastructure. 

● Examples of a strategic planning tool: Community Toolbox at KU. 

● Ensure that the action plan includes capacity building for staff in critical areas including: advancing 

equity, trauma informed care, and cultural humility, among others. In addition, encourage providers to 

build teams representative of the diversity of people in the community who are at risk of homelessness 

and which include people with lived experience of homelessness or housing instability. 

  

5. Implement Plan, Track Outcomes and Work Continuously to Improve 

While developing an action plan, partners can collaborate on identifying the target outcomes for the plan and 

for each of their prevention programs. The Agree on Measures of Success and Establish a Governance Structure 

section of The Intersector Project toolkit, which helps to guide successful inter-sector collaborations, has tips, 

examples, resources, and more that can help partners during this stage of the work. The partners can 

coordinate to understand which data will be collected to meet the requirements for different funding streams, 

identify any additional data points that are critical for tracking, and decide how to share and analyze data 

https://www.ncsc.org/__data/assets/pdf_file/0029/78194/Enterprise-Eviction-Intervention-Roadmap.pdf
https://www.ncsc.org/__data/assets/pdf_file/0029/78194/Enterprise-Eviction-Intervention-Roadmap.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-Rehousing-Activation-and-Racial-Equity-Part-1-Equity-as-the-Foundation.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-Rehousing-Activation-and-Racial-Equity-Part-1-Equity-as-the-Foundation.pdf
https://aspe.hhs.gov/reports/equity-assessment-tip-sheet
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-How-to-Design-Scale-and-Fund-a-Homelessness-Prevention-Program.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-How-to-Design-Scale-and-Fund-a-Homelessness-Prevention-Program.pdf
https://www.reginfo.gov/public/do/DownloadDocument?objectID=136481201
https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/coronavirus/assistance-for-state-local-and-tribal-governments/emergency-rental-assistance-program/promising-practices/housing-stability
https://ctb.ku.edu/en/developing-strategic-and-action-plans
https://intersector.com/toolkit/agree-on-measures-of-success/
https://intersector.com/toolkit/establish-a-governance-structure/
https://intersector.com/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         26 
 

Back to Top 

together to understand progress on homelessness prevention work happening through multiple systems and 

throughout the community. Partners can also work together to build an understanding of what information is 

not being collected, but should be, to develop a better understanding of the people, wants and needs, and 

trends that are not being captured by current systems.  

To monitor for inequities, collect data that can be disaggregated by demographic factors (e.g. race and 

ethnicity, familial status, age, etc.) such as: 

• Qualitative data collected from people being served by and working in the system  

• Circumstances of households seeking assistance (e.g. housing status, needs, if they are fleeing violence, 

etc.) 

• Number of prevention program applications received, and percent approved 

• Length of time from application to approval 

• Amount and duration of assisted provided  

• Percentage of those that received prevention assistance who entered or returned to the homelessness 

response system3 

It is beneficial to review data regularly, not only to monitor the progress of various programs, but also to 

understand who is being served (and who is still not able to access services), and to inform continuous quality 

improvement efforts. This monitoring and quality improvement process should include the same range of 

partners involved in the development of the plan, including people with lived experience of homelessness and 

housing instability who are compensated for their time and expertise.  

Data sharing can also be useful in tracking outcomes and improving systems. Agencies may consider exploring 

data sharing to facilitate coordination of services between systems or to understand when households still enter 

the homelessness response system after receiving prevention services. Any data sharing efforts should comply 

with all data privacy regulations and include the collection of informed consent from individuals prior to 

sharing individual/household data. 

 

 
3 For more, see the Track Outcomes and Engage in Continuous Quality Improvement Section of: COVID-19 Homeless System 
Response: How to Design, Scale, and Fund a Homelessness Prevention Program.  

https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-How-to-Design-Scale-and-Fund-a-Homelessness-Prevention-Program.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-How-to-Design-Scale-and-Fund-a-Homelessness-Prevention-Program.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         27 
 

Back to Top 

HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION CATEGORIES 

Universal Supports (sometimes referred to as primordial prevention in other frameworks, such as 

Advancing Primary Prevention in Human Services: Convening Findings) set the foundation for housing 

stability. This framework does not focus on universal supports, but they are still critical for communities to 

consider in larger planning efforts around homelessness prevention. This framework focuses on three 

categories - Prevention, Diversion, and Rehousing and Stabilization, which represent a reimagining of 

the established primary, secondary, and tertiary levels of prevention used in a public health context, adapted to 

be more inclusive of human services and address the specifics of the homelessness prevention system.  

Community partners can use these categories of 

Prevention, Diversion, and Rehousing and 

Stabilization to map the resources available in 

their own systems and utilize them strategically 

based on resource type and level of need. 

Utilizing these categories can give communities 

a shared cross-sector understanding of the 

goals of each phase of prevention to start from, 

better allowing them to coordinate resources 

and referrals and organize a multi-sector 

response to preventing homelessness.  

 

 

 

 

Universal Supports aim to provide equitable opportunities for 

people to achieve optimal health and social outcomes, including having 

stable and safe housing. Universal supports can be used to prevent 

people from experiencing housing instability or homelessness or can be 

used in conjunction with other supports and resources to help those 

who may already be at risk of or experiencing homelessness. Examples 

of universal supports include:  

• Income supports such as Temporary Assistance for Needy Families 

(TANF), Supplemental Security Income and Social Security 

Disability Insurance (SSI/SSDI), unemployment benefits, the 

refundable child tax credit (CTC), and the earned income tax credit 

(EITC) provide critical financial assistance to people with low or no 

incomes, and programs like the Child Care and Development Fund 

child care subsidy and free early care and education (such as Head 

Start) can make it easier for families to build income. 

• Inclusionary zoning, tax credits, housing trusts, and other structures 

that require or incentivize the creation of affordable housing provide 

opportunities for people with low incomes to access housing in their 

community.  

• Policies around rent control, rent increase caps, the right to housing 

counsel, strong tenant protections, source of income discrimination 

bans, lowering barriers to entry, and more make it easier for people 

with low incomes to access and stay in housing. 

https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/8228e700f6e369df9382ac8e0d3976c1/primary-prevention-convening-brief.pdf
https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/142637


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         28 
 

Back to Top 

 
 

As you look to utilize these categories in planning efforts with your local partners, here are a few important 

considerations:  

• The housing situations of people seeking assistance are fluid, and many programs can 

provide services across and within the categories, leading to overlaps. In addition, the 

categories are focused on general situations, not eligibility criteria for specific programs. 

However, the categories can still be useful framing as communities work to better integrate systems, 

programs and funding.  

• All the categories outlined, as well as areas this framework does not focus on (including universal 

supports) are important to keep in mind as communities think about their overall strategy (crossing 

many different sectors and systems) to prevent housing instability and homelessness. 

• Funding streams are often flexible, and the way resources are prioritized and implemented differs by 

jurisdiction. Communities can use these categories and the example housing situations as a place to 

start, and then update based on their local programs and funding streams.  



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         29 
 

Back to Top 

• Communities can use these categories to plan both population-wide homelessness prevention strategies 

as well as approaches to meeting the needs of specific populations in their communities, such as 

Veterans, families with young children, youth and young people, people with disabilities, older adults, 

and people fleeing violence. 

• It is important for agencies and providers to be intentional about ensuring equitable, meaningful 

access, including for people with Limited English Proficiency, differing literacy levels, and disabilities, 

both to comply with all applicable laws around accessibility and to successfully reach everyone eligible 

for services. For example, providing language assistance services and ensuring key informational 

documents and applications are translated are critical to ensuring accessibility for people with Limited 

English Proficiency. Providing access to Certified Deaf Interpreters and/or American Sign Language 

interpreters will ensure accessibility for people who are deaf or hard of hearing (D/HOH). When 

developing access points for programs, providers might take into account physical accessibility of 

spaces (e.g. ramps, accessible bathrooms, adjustable counters) as well as accessibility of remote systems 

(e.g. considering how people without phone or internet service can access online or telephone-based 

applications, 508 compliance, translation).  

 

 

 Programs and Policies That Promote Stable Housing 

 

Primary prevention involves interventions that seek to promote protective factors for housing security for 

populations with high risk factors for experiencing homelessness. These interventions, among other resources, 

might include eviction and foreclosure prevention, legal support, rent and/or utility subsidies, workforce, 

education, and income supports focused on people at high risk of experiencing housing instability or 

homelessness.  

 

https://www.section508.gov/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         30 
 

Back to Top 

Example Housing Situations  

● People facing eviction or foreclosure and have other risk factors for experiencing homelessness, such as 

previous episodes of homelessness or residing in areas with high eviction rates 

● People with low incomes who are rent burdened or severely rent burdened (spending more than 30% or 

50%, respectively, of income on rent and utilities)  

● People experiencing Intimate Partner Violence (IPV), Domestic Violence (DV) and/or other forms of 

violence that makes their living situation dangerous 

● People who are couch surfing, doubled up, or living in other unstable housing situations 

Example Programs 

● The Department of Housing and Urban Development’s Office of Policy and Development’s Eviction 

Protection Grant Program is used to provide legal services to low-income tenants at risk of eviction. 

● The Department of Veterans Affairs’ Shallow Subsidy program, a type of Supportive Services for 

Veteran Families (SSVF) assistance, can be used (among other ways) to provide rental support for 

Veterans with a high rent burden to prevent eviction. 

● The Health Resources Services Administration’s Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program provides Emergency 

Financial Assistance to provide one-time or short-term payments towards utility bills for people living 

with HIV/AIDS. 

● The Family and Youth Services Bureau’s Runaway and Homeless Youth Prevention Demonstration 

Program is designed to support the tailored delivery of community-based initiatives to prevent youth 

from experiencing homelessness in partnership with youth and young adults. 

Considerations for Prevention Programs 

● Appropriately scaling programs and focusing resources on the people who are most at risk of 

experiencing homelessness if they do not receive assistance is critical to increasing the efficiency of 

prevention programs. It is important for communities to utilize data to inform planning locally to 

https://www.huduser.gov/portal/eviction-protection-grant.html
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/eviction-protection-grant.html


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         31 
 

Back to Top 

maximize resources and minimize the extent to which prevention resources are provided to people who 

are unlikely to experience homelessness. 

● Increasing prevention programs and work by other systems and partners, such as those listed in the 

Identify and Gather Partners section, will help to provide greater access to prevention supports by 

people in need, who greatly outnumber resources available through the homelessness response system. 

 

 

Programs That Help People Avoid Homelessness 

 

Diversion is intended for people who are at imminent risk of experiencing sheltered or unsheltered 

homelessness. These interventions are meant to actively resolve housing crises so the household can remain in 

place or move directly into new housing without entering the homelessness response system. The primary 

purpose of these programs is to help individuals stabilize in housing without needing more intensive supports, 

not to create barriers to access emergency shelter for those without other options. Resources that may be 

accessed in this category include family and landlord-tenant mediation, rental arrears assistance, legal services, 

housing problem solving, and more.  

Example Housing Situation(s) 

● People who no longer have or have been asked to leave a temporary situation like couch surfing 

● Individuals in the process of seeking shelter or facing unsheltered situations 

● Individuals whose lives are in immediate danger because of Intimate Partner Violence (IPV), Domestic 

Violence (DV), and/or other forms of violence 

 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         32 
 

Back to Top 

Example Programs 

● Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) funds can be used to pay rental arrears for households that are at 

imminent risk of losing their housing and have a high likelihood of entering shelter. 

● Supportive Services for Veterans Families (SSVF) funds used for Housing Problem Solving/Rapid 

Resolutions to prevent a Veteran and family from entering the homelessness response system (e.g. 

mediation, help identifying temporary housing within social or family networks, financial assistance, 

program referrals, etc.). 

● The Health Resources Services Administration’s Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program can offer housing 

services that provide transitional, short-term, or emergency housing assistance necessary to prevent 

homelessness for people living with HIV/AIDS. 

Considerations for Diversion Programs 

● Programs in the diversion category benefit from flexibility, responsiveness, and ability to creatively 

address the different housing challenges households are dealing with. They focus on building upon the 

various strengths, networks, and resources households have. Flexibility might include being responsive 

to highly time-sensitive needs and being as low-barrier (e.g. minimal paperwork, accessible hours) as 

possible to act quickly to help people retain their current housing or find another solution.  

● Consider making resources available in various systems that people are interacting with to reduce the 

time needed to refer out to other programs. For example, housing problem solving approaches can be 

highly effective in reducing the number of people who need to enter shelter or stay in unsheltered 

locations. If health care, education, employment, justice, and other systems have staff who can provide 

simple housing problem solving without having to refer everyone to the homelessness response system, 

they can provide quick assistance at a critical time, which may make the difference between someone 

retaining their housing and needing to be rehoused after experiencing homelessness.  

 

 

https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/esg/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         33 
 

Back to Top 

Programs That Help People Quickly Get Into Housing and  

Promote Stability Once They Are Housed 

 
Rehousing and stabilization refer to a series of targeted resources that aim to support individuals in the rapid 

transition out of homelessness and to assist with stabilization supports. This category weighs the importance of 

not only housing individuals but reducing their chances of experiencing recurring episodes of homelessness. 

Resources may include programs and services such as rapid rehousing, targeted workforce and income 

supports, and housing-focused case management.  

Example Housing Situation(s) 

● People who are in shelter, hotels/motels, transitional housing, or an unsheltered situation. 

● People who have recently experienced homelessness and are now in housing.  

● People who have left their homes due to safety concerns associated with Intimate Partner Violence 

(IPV), Domestic Violence (DV), and/or other forms of violence. 

Example Programs 

● The Runaway and Homeless Youth (RHY) Program’s Street Outreach Program (SOP) engages youth 

experiencing homelessness, living on the street, in unsafe conditions, and at risk of sexual exploitation 

and connects them to housing and support services to position them for safety and stability. 

● Continuum of Care (CoC) or Emergency Solutions Grant (ESG) Rapid Rehousing is used to rehouse an 

individual from shelter, offering housing-focused case management, access to educational or vocational 

supports, assistance connecting to health care, and other services focused on building long-term 

stability. 

 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         34 
 

Back to Top 

Considerations for Rehousing and Stabilization Programs 

● In an ideal system, universal supports, prevention (primary), and diversion (secondary) programs will 

be able to prevent most individuals from having to seek rehousing and stabilization supports.  

● It is important that crisis and long-term housing options meet various needs and circumstances, 

including for adults to stay with their children, partners to live together, people to bring pets, and 

opportunities to choose between site-based (in a specific building) and scattered site (in private market 

housing) programs.  

● People who experience homelessness have a greater risk of experiencing it again, so impactful programs 

will provide intentional, focused support to equip them with income, services, social supports, and 

other protective factors to ensure long-term housing stability.  

 

 

PROMISING APPROACHES TO  

HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION 

The following approaches can offer some ideas for communities as they Develop an Action Plan that includes 

ways to better coordinate, refocus, and/or improve existing programs and possibly design new ones.  

 

Housing Status Assessments and Screenings 

Housing status assessments or screenings within different systems (e.g. health care, education, justice, child 

welfare, Veterans, aging services, food insecurity and income support programs, utility assistance programs 

etc.) can identify people at risk of or experiencing housing instability or homelessness early, before they arrive 

at an emergency shelter or are in an unsheltered housing situation. In the case of an active housing crisis, when 

someone is experiencing or at imminent risk of homelessness, there may be a need to refer the household 

directly to the homelessness response system. In many other cases, however, screenings can help to identify 

people who could benefit from resources and services to support their housing stability now to prevent them 

from ever having to experience homelessness. Identifying challenges to housing stability early gives people 

seeking assistance and the providers they work with a window of opportunity to engage in housing problem 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         35 
 

Back to Top 

solving and to connect to primary prevention resources and services that support housing stability. For 

example, the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs’ Supportive Services for Veteran Families (SSVF) programs 

utilize a national Homeless Prevention Threshold Screening tool to help prioritize assistance to those most 

likely to experience homelessness. This is one example of a tool that communities could consider adopting or 

adapting within a homelessness prevention framework, if it is appropriate for their local context.  

Any screening tools and assessments, as well as the processes and workflows that follow them (such as 

connections to specific resources/programs), will be most effective when they are informed by local context and 

developed, tested, and refined in conjunction with providers (including frontline staff) as well as people with 

lived experience of homelessness or housing instability. Proactively identifying and working to address racial 

and ethnic inequities among people experiencing and at risk of homelessness, people served by prevention 

programs, and more will help new or revised screening tools and processes advance racial equity. In addition, 

communities can explore ways to make collection of data on housing status trauma informed and client 

centered, as highlighted here: Client-Centered Data Collection Approach: Virtual Reality Series - HUD 

Exchange.  

Housing Problem Solving 

Housing problem solving approaches are increasingly being embraced by homelessness response systems.4 The 

approach recognizes that for some households, light-touch assistance and minimal resources can help resolve a 

housing crisis by building on the household’s existing strengths, resources, and networks. Housing problem 

solving approaches are intended to be flexible, easily accessible, and have low paperwork requirements so they 

can provide quick support for time-sensitive needs. Housing problem solving may involve services like 

mediation between the household and their landlord or a family member they live with, or an exploratory 

conversation about strengths and support networks the household can tap into. It is critical to have financial 

resources that can be used flexibly and accessed quickly to pair with housing problem solving conversations and 

services. Financial support to help people retain housing might include support with an electric bill, funds for 

groceries, car repairs, or rental arrears, among other needs. Expanding this kind of work to systems outside of 

homelessness response could be particularly effective in helping to keep people from experiencing 

homelessness. Ways to expand this work could include educating and equipping client-facing staff in other 

systems with housing problem solving skills and techniques, as well as identifying funding within those systems 

that can be used for light-touch assistance. Examples of flexible federal funding that might be used for these 

 
4 For more information on housing problem solving see: Adopting Housing Problem-Solving Approaches and COVID-19 Homeless 
System Response: Housing Problem-Solving: Prevention Strategies (hudexchange.info)  

https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hmis/client-centered-data-collection-approach-virtual-reality-series/#1-introduction
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hmis/client-centered-data-collection-approach-virtual-reality-series/#1-introduction
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/Housing-Problem-Solving-July-2019.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-Housing-Problem-Solving-Prevention-Strategies.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-Housing-Problem-Solving-Prevention-Strategies.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         36 
 

Back to Top 

purposes include Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF), Social Services Block Grant (SSBG), and 

the Community Services Block Grant (CSBG). 

 

Expand Coordinated Entry  

When embarking on cross-system work to build a community-wide approach to homelessness prevention, 

communities might consider making it easier for people experiencing a housing crisis to find assistance as a 

key goal of the framework. Homelessness response systems use coordinated entry processes to streamline 

access to crisis response programs and prioritize resources for people with the highest needs.iv In some cases, 

communities have coordinated entry processes with centralized or multiple access points for people seeking 

homelessness prevention resources, but in others there may be several different places households seeking 

assistance need to look. Expanding the capacity of coordinated entry access points, building in ‘no wrong door’ 

approaches so people can access coordinated entry from wherever they are seeking services, and increasing the 

number of programs to which access points can refer makes it easier for people to access assistance and for the 

partners involved to ensure that households are matched to resources that they are eligible for and that meet 

their current circumstances and level of need.  

 

Education and Homelessness Response System Collaborations 

Children, youth, and young adults both with and without disabilities face particularly strenuous challenges 

while experiencing homelessness, and a lack of stable housing can impact attendance, grades, proficiency levels, 

and other educational outcomes. Collaborations between the homelessness response system,  sector, 

and other community partners to support housing stability can improve housing, educational, and other 

outcomes for families. McKinney-Vento Liaisons, in partnership with the homelessness response system, can 

ensure that youth and families experiencing homelessness are connected to comprehensive resources, including 

rehousing and stabilization services and supports. Educational institutions can also serve as critical sources of 

support and information about housing and prevention resources for families they serve, who might not know 

where else in the community to turn for support.  

 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         37 
 

Back to Top 

Workforce Collaborations 

Workforce programs can play a critical role in strengthening financial well-being and housing stability through 

economic advancement and, ultimately, lessening the risk of homelessness. For some households in need of 

prevention-level services, connection to employment services at a point of housing instability may be enough to 

help them increase income and achieve housing stability. For others, such as those in need of rehousing and 

stabilization services, combining employment services with rental assistance or other supports may be helpful 

to rebuild housing stability and reduce the risk of experiencing homelessness in the future.  

 

Data Sharing 

Sharing data allows partners from two or more systems to collaborate more effectively. In the context of 

prevention work, merged data can provide cross-system partners with critical insights into the characteristics 

and needs of people experiencing or at risk of homelessness being served by multiple systems and can inform 

the design of strategies and interventions that better meet these needs. For example, New data: The revolving 

door between homeless shelters and prisons in Connecticut highlights lessons learned from data sharing 

between the Connecticut Department of Corrections and the Connecticut Coalition to End Homelessness and 

actions being taken as a result, including increasing investment in reentry housing and putting a greater focus 

on locating housing options for individuals at risk of homelessness before release. 

Although there are many state and federal laws protecting the privacy of personal information, such as the 

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and the Family Educational Rights and Privacy 

Act (FERPA), there are still ways for partners to share data that comply with all applicable laws and 

regulations, protect the data and privacy of people they are serving, and ensure that the people being served 

have an opportunity to provide (or decline to provide) informed consent. Developing a Memorandum of 

Understanding that includes a data sharing agreement is an important way for partners to define how they will 

work together and how data will be shared and used. Utilizing a universal release of information (ROI) is an 

innovative approach that can enable data sharing with multiple partners, such as health, behavioral health, 

justice, education, human services, and housing partners. There are a wealth of resources supporting data 

sharing between different systems, including:  

https://www.prisonpolicy.org/blog/2021/02/10/homelessness/
https://www.prisonpolicy.org/blog/2021/02/10/homelessness/
https://toolkit.ncats.nih.gov/glossary/data-sharing-agreement/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         38 
 

Back to Top 

● Interagency Data Disclosure: A Tip Sheet on Interagency Collaboration, developed by the U.S. 

Department of Education in coordination with USICH, provides tips to help state and local education 

agency homeless service programs, housing and human services agencies, and provider organizations 

share data to better serve children, youth, and families experiencing homelessness. 

● The Homelessness and Health Data Sharing Toolkit, Data Sharing Resources for Health and Housing 

Partnerships, and Learning Brief: Data-Sharing Between Homelessness and Health Systems, Data 

Integration Best Practices for Health Centers & Homeless Services highlight how health and housing 

systems can and have shared data to improve health and housing outcomes for people who are at risk of 

or experiencing homelessness.  

● One Roof Data Brief: Harnessing Cross Systems Data to Keep Families Together focuses on how child 

welfare, housing, and other systems can share data to better meet the housing and wellness needs of 

families at risk of or experiencing homelessness and seeking to reunify with children or prevent out of 

home placement.  

https://oese.ed.gov/files/2021/05/ehcy-interagency-data-disclosure.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Homelessness-and-Health-Data-Sharing-Toolkit.pdf
https://nashp.org/data-sharing-resources-for-health-and-housing-partnerships/
https://nashp.org/data-sharing-resources-for-health-and-housing-partnerships/
https://community.solutions/research-posts/learning-brief-data-sharing-between-homelessness-and-health-systems/
https://www.csh.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/CSHData-Integration-Report_Final11.12.20.pdf
https://www.csh.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/CSHData-Integration-Report_Final11.12.20.pdf
https://www.csh.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/CSH_OneRoofDataSharingGuidanceBrief_May2021.pdf


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         39 
 

Back to Top 

RESOURCES THAT CAN BE USED FOR PREVENTION 

There are many resources that can be used in building a community approach to homelessness prevention. The table below provides information 

about resources from different federal agencies. In reviewing the list and using it to inform local work, communities can take note of the following 

considerations: 

● Resources differ widely by community. Whether or not the resource is available, who is eligible, how resources are 

prioritized, what is provided, how people learn about and access the resource, where it falls in the continuum of 

prevention, and many other factors will depend on the situation in your community.  

● The mapping services process is important for communities to work through to understand which of the resources below are available 

locally, how the programs are being implemented, and what changes could be made to be as responsive as possible to local needs.  

● The resources in the chart may be a fit for more than one category of prevention, depending on how they are used. The chart and the 

categories should be used as a starting place, and then adapted as needed to be responsive to local contexts.    

● Communities might find value in reflecting on the goals for homelessness prevention and the data collected to inform planning as they 

consider how to design or update programs and to meet local needs, including for people from specific populations.  

● This is not an exhaustive list. There may be state, county, local, private, and other funding available in your community that should be 

considered as you map resources and build out a plan.  

 

 



September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         40 
 

Back to Top 

        Federal Resources That Can Be Used for Homelessness Prevention 

Agency     Prevention (Primary) Diversion (Secondary)  Rehousing and Stabilization (Tertiary)  

 

HHS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

National Runaway Safeline  

Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood 

Home Visiting (MIECHV) Program 

Tribal MIECHV Program  

Children’s Health Insurance Program  

Family Violence Prevention and Services 

Act (FVPSA) Program 

Substance Abuse and Mental Health 

Services Administration (SAMSHA) 

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families 

(TANF) Program 

National Human Trafficking Hotline 

Human Trafficking Services Grant 

Programs Protecting Rights and Preventing 

Abuse 

Aging and Disability Resource Centers 

Program/No Wrong Door System 

Health, Wellness, and Nutrition | ACL 

Administration for Community Living 

Housing and Services Resource Center 

(HSRC) 

Community Health Center Program  

Community Mental Health Services Block Grants  

Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block 

Grants  

State Opioid Response (SOR) program  

Tribal Opioid Response (TOR) grant program 

Certified Community Behavioral Health Clinics 

(CCBHCs) Program  

Ryan White HIV/AIDS (RWHAP) Program Healthy 

Start Program 

Adult Protective Services (APS) 

Legal Assistance 

Protection and Advocacy Systems (P&As) 

 

Runaway and Homeless Youth Street Outreach 

Program (SOP) 

Runaway and Homeless Youth Basic Center Program  

Runaway and Homeless Youth Transitional Living 

Program  

Maternity Group Homes for Pregnant and Parenting 

Youth  

National Runaway Safeline 

Head Start  

Child Care and Development Fund  

Health Care for the Homeless  

Treatment for Individuals Experiencing Homelessness 

program  

The Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program (RWHAP) 

Supporting Replication Housing Initiative 

HAB HIV Housing and Employment Project 

Grants for the Benefit of Homeless Individuals 

Community Services Block Grant (CSBG)  

Social Services Block Grant (SSBG) 

https://www.hhs.gov/
https://www.1800runaway.org/youth-teens?utm_source=google&utm_medium=cpc&utm_campaign=atwhatagecanyouleavehome082117&gad_source=1&gclid=CjwKCAjwoPOwBhAeEiwAJuXRhye05kqC509HAliMaCBxlzUnoaacHp9whmbuJi1yAaXgBIlbn4iENhoCJeIQAvD_BwE
https://mchb.hrsa.gov/programs-impact/programs/home-visiting/maternal-infant-early-childhood-home-visiting-miechv-program
https://mchb.hrsa.gov/programs-impact/programs/home-visiting/maternal-infant-early-childhood-home-visiting-miechv-program
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ecd/tribal/tribal-home-visiting/about-tribal-home-visiting
https://www.medicaid.gov/chip/index.html
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofvps/fvpsa-data-portal
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofvps/fvpsa-data-portal
https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/path
https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/path
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofa/programs/temporary-assistance-needy-families-tanf
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofa/programs/temporary-assistance-needy-families-tanf
https://humantraffickinghotline.org/en
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/otip/victim-assistance/victim-assistance-grants
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/otip/victim-assistance/victim-assistance-grants
https://acl.gov/programs/protecting-rights-and-preventing-abuse
https://acl.gov/programs/protecting-rights-and-preventing-abuse
https://acl.gov/programs/connecting-people-services
https://acl.gov/programs/connecting-people-services
https://acl.gov/programs/health-wellness
https://acl.gov/programs/health-wellness
https://acl.gov/HousingAndServices
https://bphc.hrsa.gov/about-health-center-program
https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/block-grants/mhbg
https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/block-grants
https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/block-grants
https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/grant-announcements/ti-22-005
https://www.samhsa.gov/tribal-affairs/tribal-opioid-response-grants#:~:text=TOR%20grant%20recipients%20provide%20support,nutrition%20programs%2C%20and%20sobriety%20activities.
https://www.samhsa.gov/certified-community-behavioral-health-clinics
https://www.samhsa.gov/certified-community-behavioral-health-clinics
https://ryanwhite.hrsa.gov/
https://mchb.hrsa.gov/programs-impact/healthy-start
https://mchb.hrsa.gov/programs-impact/healthy-start
https://acl.gov/node/790
https://acl.gov/programs/protecting-rights-and-preventing-abuse/legal-help
https://acl.gov/programs/aging-and-disability-networks/state-protection-advocacy-systems
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/fysb/programs/runaway-homeless-youth/programs/street-outreach
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/fysb/programs/runaway-homeless-youth/programs/street-outreach
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/fysb/programs/basic-center-program
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/fysb/programs/runaway-homeless-youth
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/fysb/programs/runaway-homeless-youth
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/fysb/programs/runaway-homeless-youth
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/fysb/programs/runaway-homeless-youth
https://www.1800runaway.org/youth-teens?utm_source=google&utm_medium=cpc&utm_campaign=atwhatagecanyouleavehome082117&gad_source=1&gclid=CjwKCAjwoPOwBhAeEiwAJuXRhye05kqC509HAliMaCBxlzUnoaacHp9whmbuJi1yAaXgBIlbn4iENhoCJeIQAvD_BwE
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ohs
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/occ/guide-ccdf-resources
https://nhchc.org/
https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/tieh-program
https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/tieh-program
https://targethiv.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/2024-06/SURE%20Housing_ProjectFactSheet_21Mar2024.pdf
https://targethiv.org/sites/default/files/media/documents/2024-06/SURE%20Housing_ProjectFactSheet_21Mar2024.pdf
https://targethiv.org/housing-and-employment
https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/gbhi-program
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/csbg/about
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/programs/ssbg


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         41 
 

Back to Top 

Agency     Prevention (Primary) Diversion (Secondary)  Rehousing and Stabilization (Tertiary)  

 

HHS 

Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs)  

Centers for Independent Living (CILs)  

Assistive Technology Program Projects for 

Assistance in Transition from 

Homelessness (PATH) Program 

SSI/SSDI Outreach, Access and Recovery 

(SOAR) Program 

Temporary Assistance for Needy Families (TANF) 

Program 

 

VA 

 Veteran Benefits Administration 

(Connection to benefits) 

SOAR assistance (SSI, SSDI) 

Shallow Subsidy 

Homeless Veteran Community 

Employment Services 

Rapid Resolution 

Veterans Justice Outreach  

Legal Services for Veterans 

Homeless Veteran Employment Services 

Homelessness Prevention Assistance through 

SSVF 

 

Rapid Resolution 

HUD-VASH (Housing Choice Voucher and ongoing 

case management)  

 

HUD 

 

 

Housing Choice Vouchers 

Eviction prevention services for public 

housing residents, voucher households, 

Multifamily housing residents 

Fair Housing initiative programs 

Family Unification Program and Foster 

Youth to Independence Vouchers 

Emergency Solutions Grants for homelessness 

diversion 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 

funds used for homelessness diversion 

 

Continuum of Care Program permanent housing 

programs, supportive services programs that facilitate 

housing connections 

Emergency Solutions Grants for rapid re-housing or 

permanent housing 

Emergency Housing Vouchers, Stability Vouchers, 

Mainstream Vouchers, the Family Unification Program, 

and Foster Youth to Independence Initiative Vouchers, 

https://www.hhs.gov/
https://www.usaging.org/housing-and-homelessness
https://acl.gov/node/410
https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/path
https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/path
https://www.samhsa.gov/homelessness-programs-resources/path
https://soarworks.samhsa.gov/
https://soarworks.samhsa.gov/
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofa/programs/temporary-assistance-needy-families-tanf
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ofa/programs/temporary-assistance-needy-families-tanf
https://www.va.gov/
https://www.benefits.va.gov/benefits/about.asp
https://www.benefits.va.gov/benefits/about.asp
https://soarworks.samhsa.gov/article/soar-supports-our-veterans
https://www.va.gov/housing-assistance/
https://www.va.gov/homeless/hvces.asp
https://www.va.gov/homeless/hvces.asp
https://www.va.gov/homeless/ssvf/index.html
https://www.va.gov/homeless/vjo.asp
https://www.va.gov/homeless/lsv.asp
https://www.va.gov/HOMELESS/HVCES.asp
https://www.va.gov/homeless/for_homeless_veterans.asp
https://www.va.gov/homeless/for_homeless_veterans.asp
https://www.va.gov/homeless/ssvf/index.html
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/vash
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/vash
https://www.hud.gov/
https://www.hud.gov/hcv
https://www.hud.gov/rent_relief/eviction_guidance
https://www.hud.gov/rent_relief/eviction_guidance
https://www.hud.gov/rent_relief/eviction_guidance
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/family
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/fyi
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/fyi
https://www.hudexchange.info/homelessness-assistance/coc-esg-virtual-binders/esg-program-components/homelessness-prevention/#:~:text=For%20communities%20that%20have%20chosen,and%20cost%20effectively%20as%20possible.
https://www.hudexchange.info/homelessness-assistance/coc-esg-virtual-binders/esg-program-components/homelessness-prevention/#:~:text=For%20communities%20that%20have%20chosen,and%20cost%20effectively%20as%20possible.
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/2696/notice-cpd-03-14-using-cdbg-funds-homelessness/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/2696/notice-cpd-03-14-using-cdbg-funds-homelessness/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/coc/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/esg/
https://www.hud.gov/ehv
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/stability_voucher_program
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/mainstream
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/family
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/fyi


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         42 
 

Back to Top 

Agency     Prevention (Primary) Diversion (Secondary)  Rehousing and Stabilization (Tertiary)  

 

HUD 

Mainstream and Non-Elderly Disabled 

(NED) vouchers 

HOME Investment Partnerships Program 

Tenant Based Rental Assistance, when 

targeted to high-risk groups 

Office of Policy Development and 

Research (PD&R) Eviction Protection 

Grant Program 

Emergency Solutions Grant used for 

homelessness prevention 

Community Development Block Grant 

(CDBG) funds used for homelessness 

prevention or eviction prevention  

Housing counseling programs 

Fair Housing initiative programs 

Housing Opportunities for Persons with 

AIDS (HOPWA) Short-Term Rent, 

Mortgage, and Utility (STRMU) assistance  

 

when used to housing people experiencing 

homelessness 

Housing Choice Vouchers in which a PHA has 

adopted a homelessness admissions preference 

HOPWA Tenant Based Rental Assistance for 

households experiencing or at-risk of homelessness 

Public housing in which a PHA has adopted a 

homelessness admissions preference. 

Multifamily housing in which an owner has adopted a 

homelessness admissions preference 

Additional information about programs to prevent and end homelessness can be found in Appendix B of FY 23 Targeted Programs That Help People 

Experiencing or At Risk of Homelessness; Government Spending Open Data; Federal Health and Social Service Program That Support People 

Experiencing Homelessness; All In: The Federal Strategic Plan to Prevent and End Homelessness; Federal Housing and Economic Mobility 

Resources; and The Housing and Economic Mobility Toolkit. 

 

https://www.hud.gov/
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/mainstream
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/ned
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/hcv/ned
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/home/topics/tbra/#policy-guidance-and-faqs
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/home/topics/tbra/#policy-guidance-and-faqs
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/eviction-protection-grant.html
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/eviction-protection-grant.html
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/eviction-protection-grant.html
https://www.hudexchange.info/homelessness-assistance/coc-esg-virtual-binders/esg-program-components/homelessness-prevention/
https://www.hudexchange.info/homelessness-assistance/coc-esg-virtual-binders/esg-program-components/homelessness-prevention/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/2696/notice-cpd-03-14-using-cdbg-funds-homelessness/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/2696/notice-cpd-03-14-using-cdbg-funds-homelessness/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/2696/notice-cpd-03-14-using-cdbg-funds-homelessness/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/housing-counseling/program-description/
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/partners/FHIP#:~:text=Search%20FHIP%20Organizations-,What%20Is%20the%20Fair%20Housing%20Initiatives%20Program%3F,been%20victims%20of%20housing%20discrimination.
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hopwa/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hopwa/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/4843/hopwa-short-term-rent-mortgage-and-utility-assistance/
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/4843/hopwa-short-term-rent-mortgage-and-utility-assistance/
https://www.hud.gov/topics/housing_choice_voucher_program_section_8
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hopwa/
https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/hopwa/
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/public_indian_housing/programs/ph
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/housing/mfh
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/FY%2023%20Targeted%20Programs%20That%20Help%20People%20Experiencing%20or%20At%20Risk%20of%20Homelessness.pdf
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/FY%2023%20Targeted%20Programs%20That%20Help%20People%20Experiencing%20or%20At%20Risk%20of%20Homelessness.pdf
https://www.usaspending.gov/
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/Federal_Health_and_Social_Service_Programs_That_Support_People_Experiencing_Homelessness.pdf
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/Federal_Health_and_Social_Service_Programs_That_Support_People_Experiencing_Homelessness.pdf
https://www.usich.gov/sites/default/files/document/All_In.pdf
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/otip/policy-guidance/federal-housing-and-economic-mobility-resources-information-memorandum
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/otip/policy-guidance/federal-housing-and-economic-mobility-resources-information-memorandum
https://www.acf.hhs.gov/otip/toolkit/housing-economic-mobility-trafficking-survivors


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         43 
 

Back to Top 

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES 

Listed resources may be applicable for various categories. 

U.S. Department of Agriculture  

The Food and Nutrition Service has staff trained to assist applicants who are experiencing homelessness, and programs that are useful in some 

states where available, like the Restaurant Meals Program (RMP). 

U.S. Department of Defense  

Service Members with concerns of housing instability, food insecurity, or financial difficulties should immediately contact their commanding officer 

to be connected with appropriate resources. DoD Civilians can contact their Employee Assistance Program for help with being connected to 

resources.  

U.S. Department of Energy  

The Weatherization Assistance Program reduces energy costs for households with low incomes by increasing the energy efficiency of their homes, 

while ensuring their health and safety.  

U.S. General Services Administration  

Surplus Real Property Homeless Assistance Program  

 

https://www.energy.gov/scep/wap/how-apply-weatherization-assistance
https://disposal.gsa.gov/s/


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         44 
 

Back to Top 

Social Security Administration 

● Supplemental Security Income 

● SOAR Assistance (SSI/SSDI) 

● Retirement Benefits 

● Disability Benefits 

● Survivors Benefits 

U.S. Department of Homeland Security 

Federal Emergency Management Agency 

● The Emergency Food and Shelter Program supplements and expands ongoing work of local nonprofit and governmental social service 

organizations to provide shelter, food and supportive services to individuals and families who are experiencing, or at risk of experiencing, 

hunger and/or homelessness. 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services  

In addition to the resources and programs mentioned in the table above, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services has some additional 

resources that can help serve people experiencing housing instability and homelessness through health care, behavioral health care and human 

services.  

 

https://www.ssa.gov/ssi
https://soarworks.samhsa.gov/
https://www.ssa.gov/retirement
https://www.ssa.gov/disability
https://www.ssa.gov/benefits/survivors/
https://www.fema.gov/grants/emergency-food-and-shelter-program


September 2024 

   

 

Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework                                                                                                                                         45 
 

Back to Top 

Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services  

● Coverage of Services and Supports to Address Health-Related Social Needs in Medicaid and the Children’s Health Insurance Program 

● SMD# 23-003 RE: Opportunities to Test Transition-Related Strategies to Support Community Reentry and Improve Care Transitions for 

Individuals Who Are Incarcerated 

● SMD #: 23-001 RE: Additional Guidance on Use of In Lieu of Services and Settings in Medicaid Managed Care 

● Opportunities for Improving Access to Mental Health and Substance Use Disorder Services for Medicaid and CHIP Enrollees Experiencing 

Homelessness 

Health Resources and Services Administration 

● HAB Best Practices Compilation – TargetHIV.org 

● The Ryan White HIV/AIDS Program (RWHAP) 

 
i COVID-19 Homeless System Response: Prevention to Promote Equity; COVID-19 Homeless System Planning and Response: Homelessness Prevention Resources ; Market 

Predictors of Homelessness 
ii Predictive-and-protective-factors-for-homelessness-Lit-Review-12.20.17...-1.pdf  
iii Padgett D, Henwood B, Tsemberis S. Housing First: Ending Homelessness, Transforming Systems, and Changing Lives: Oxford University Press; 2015. Page. 248 
iv Coordinated Entry Core Elements 

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.medicaid.gov%2Ffederal-policy-guidance%2Fdownloads%2Fcib11162023.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CKaitlyn.Jones%40hhs.gov%7Cad2ff6bf067d422515da08dc896110f6%7Cd58addea50534a808499ba4d944910df%7C0%7C0%7C638536297192889884%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=PSXuZkypHUYDtnujKGbM42YgRm%2BY4345Exhzu7%2BKc%2BE%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.medicaid.gov%2Ffederal-policy-guidance%2Fdownloads%2Fsmd23003.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CKaitlyn.Jones%40hhs.gov%7Cad2ff6bf067d422515da08dc896110f6%7Cd58addea50534a808499ba4d944910df%7C0%7C0%7C638536297192895802%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=cjY5HSzEXAvccNiVAWzVBG2CQJYhbhthapfRS3RSqpo%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.medicaid.gov%2Ffederal-policy-guidance%2Fdownloads%2Fsmd23003.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CKaitlyn.Jones%40hhs.gov%7Cad2ff6bf067d422515da08dc896110f6%7Cd58addea50534a808499ba4d944910df%7C0%7C0%7C638536297192895802%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=cjY5HSzEXAvccNiVAWzVBG2CQJYhbhthapfRS3RSqpo%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.medicaid.gov%2Ffederal-policy-guidance%2Fdownloads%2Fsmd23001.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CKaitlyn.Jones%40hhs.gov%7Cad2ff6bf067d422515da08dc896110f6%7Cd58addea50534a808499ba4d944910df%7C0%7C0%7C638536297192901827%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=tyM0CXjojX2o%2F1%2F%2FUmo08Slsoq2UZQLtidup3%2FQF3qE%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.medicaid.gov%2Ffederal-policy-guidance%2Fdownloads%2Fmh-sud-med-chip-enrol-expncg-hmles.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CKaitlyn.Jones%40hhs.gov%7Cad2ff6bf067d422515da08dc896110f6%7Cd58addea50534a808499ba4d944910df%7C0%7C0%7C638536297192907534%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yX78X92fqIwZpgB9Nr%2FWRq0rJ%2F%2BFbrgWCM1MmO5sWyw%3D&reserved=0
https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.medicaid.gov%2Ffederal-policy-guidance%2Fdownloads%2Fmh-sud-med-chip-enrol-expncg-hmles.pdf&data=05%7C02%7CKaitlyn.Jones%40hhs.gov%7Cad2ff6bf067d422515da08dc896110f6%7Cd58addea50534a808499ba4d944910df%7C0%7C0%7C638536297192907534%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=yX78X92fqIwZpgB9Nr%2FWRq0rJ%2F%2BFbrgWCM1MmO5sWyw%3D&reserved=0
https://targethiv.org/bestpractices
https://ryanwhite.hrsa.gov/
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/COVID-19-Homeless-System-Response-Prevention-to-Promote-Equity.pdf
https://www.hudexchange.info/resource/6059/covid19-homeless-system-response-system-planning-a-framework-for-homelessness-prevention/
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Market-Predictors-of-Homelessness.pdf
https://www.huduser.gov/portal/sites/default/files/pdf/Market-Predictors-of-Homelessness.pdf
https://socialinnovation.usc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/Predictive-and-protective-factors-for-homelessness-Lit-Review-12.20.17...-1.pdf
https://files.hudexchange.info/resources/documents/Coordinated-Entry-Core-Elements.pdf


Agenda Item 2 



 
 

Small-Scale Housing Unit Report  

 

Introduction 

In October 2023, the Commission to End Homelessness approved the establishment of a Tiny Homes Ad 
Hoc to evaluate alternative housing solutions including studying, defining, and identifying potential 

applications for tiny homes. Since its formation, the Ad Hoc has met with developers, programs, subject 

matter experts, and those with lived experience with the goal of formulating a shared understanding of 

the definition of a tiny home and the potential applications for Orange County. This process included a 
variety of interviews and site visits with organizations involved in the tiny home industry. Additionally, 

the Ad Hoc held multiple debriefs and check-in meetings throughout the year to review and discuss the 
lessons, challenges, and benefits learned from their experiences. As the Ad Hoc delved further into 
business of tiny homes and their applications, the group determined the term small-scale housing unit 

was a more appropriate title to describe the structures and industry.  

 

Background 

The County of Orange has experienced successful and unprecedented investment in supportive housing 

since 2018, as outlined in the 2022 Housing Funding Strategy presented to the Commission on February 

15, 2023. 

The report presented a comprehensive narrative of recent successes in 2018 through 2022 and outlined 
a series of recommendations to address the significant challenges going forward. While noting success 

experienced by the County in attracting financial investment in supportive/affordable housing from non-
local sources, the total development cost estimate for supportive housing increased from an average of 

approximately $345,000 per unit (2018) to an average of approximately $550,000 per unit (2022).  

Notably, the smallest rental community that received county funding commitments during the time 

period was 21 units.  There is no question that a major factor in the lack of smaller projects, is the 

viability of projects at a smaller scale: 

• The construction cost economics work better at a larger scale.  
• The cost of operating communities pushes project size upwards in support of staffing and 

overhead. Given the importance of staffing in supportive housing, the cost of operations is a 

major consideration in favor of larger unit counts. 
• Many developers who specialize in affordable housing have stated that interest in smaller 

projects, even below 100 units, is minimal, due to their own limited capacity, desire to have the 

greatest impact with their own limited resources, and the fact that the operations of larger 

projects are more sustainable than the operations of smaller projects, due to scale. 



 

 
 
It has been observed that there are many locations in many communities throughout the County, which 

are not suitable for developments of a larger scale but do have local support for smaller sites. In those 
smaller site locations, affordable housing financing is simply less available, due in large part to the small 

scale. 

More generally, members of the Commission, the public, and other stakeholders have heard about the 

concept of a “Tiny Home” and wondered as to furthering the applicability of this model in Orange 

County. Thus, the Commission voted at the October 18, 2023, meeting to convene a Tiny Home Ad Hoc 

Committee to explore how best to understand the concept, frame a recommendation, and provide 

practical, direct guidance. Subsequent to that meeting, the Ad Hoc determined that more useful 

terminology is “Small-Scale Housing Units” and to refer to this Ad Hoc under that name. 

This Ad Hoc effectively serves to expand upon recommendations made in the County of Orange 2022 

Housing funding strategy, by providing specific guidance on how Small-Scale Housing Units might most 
effectively incorporate the best practices, guiding principles and commitments of the Housing Pillar as 

detailed in the Homeless Systems Pillar Report created by the County’s Commission to End 

Homelessness and accepted by the Board of Supervisors. 

In the context of the Homeless Service System Pillars, as created by the Commission, the over-arching 

guidance among all four pillars, including Shelter and Housing, is to create systems that are client 
centered. As noted in the Pillars report from November 2022, concerning Housing, “Diversity in housing 

options is as critical as housing capacity.  Individuals and families experiencing homelessness have 

unique housing and service needs, requiring the need for various housing options that address the 

varying needs of these households.” 

Combined, a wide range of anecdotal observations, independent studies, and the County’s own Pillars, 

suggest that Small-Scale Housing Units could be part of a broader, balanced approach to building out the 

County’s housing and shelter infrastructure. While the County’s own Housing Funding Strategy indicates 

small-scale housing units are not being built due to their small scale and the challenges faced by utilizing 

existing financing strategies, in fact, there is demand among the target population – people without a 
home – for more shelter and housing options, in more communities closer to where they are from. 

 

Interviews and Site Visits 

Although the small-scale housing market is a niche space of construction, one of the most notable 

takeaways is the large spectrum of models available, often provided by relatively new or emerging 
manufacturers. While most of these manufacturers are accommodating to design tweaks of their 

products, there is a vast difference between their baseline units regarding size, modularity, site 
preparation, utility hookup, delivery and setup time, fire and wind ratings, and multistoried capability.  

The smallest unit the Ad Hoc visited was 64 square feet and included a bed, desk, heater, air 

conditioning, and electrical outlets. The largest individual unit spanned 528 square feet and included a 
kitchen, bathroom, living area, and bedroom. The modularity and build out capability also varies 
between developers. Some units are designed with each wall prefabricated into a single piece, others 

consist of smaller wall sections assembled to a complete side, and one developer offers a fully built, 



 

 
 
foldable container solution. These structural differences allow for assorted degrees of expansion and 

layout flexibility. Most of the sites visited were built with non-congregate temporary housing as the 

intended use, and most were also relocatable. 

Aside from the manufacture and deliver of the units, the degree of site preparation required by the lead 

developer also fluctuates between models. Some units can be set up directly on a level, solid surface 
(such as concrete), however others require raised foundations to fully accommodate utility hookups. 

Most manufacturers offer to assist with the preparation, generally for an added fee, or can refer general 

contractors to complete the required site work. At large, developers offer the ability to connect to local 
water and electricity, depending on the needs of the unit. The sewage can be tied into existing piping or 

hooked up to a septic tank. Additionally, some developers offer the ability to utilize solar power 

electricity. 

The length of time for delivery and set up differs between models. One option can be folded compactly 
and transported on a flatbed truck, with a rough set up time of five minutes and the use of a forklift. 

Another model can be shipped flat and assembled in under an hour using manpower. Others require 

more construction by the developer in their warehouse and take several weeks or months to prepare for 
shipping. 

The variety of construction models lends itself to small-scale housing units with contrasts in fire and 

wind ratings. The result of these calculations determines the spacing placement of the models on a 

campus. Units with lower fire ratings must have an increased distance between them whereas units with 

a higher fire rating can be placed directly next to each other, sometimes even with shared walls.  

Through their discussions with operators, the Ad Hoc gained insight into the impact of the design of the 

campus as well as the programs and services needed to be successful.  

Existing site structures are varied and create different environments for residents. Some models utilize 

small-scale housing units solely for sleeping quarters and have separate buildings for restrooms, 

showers, laundry, and a kitchen area. Although this layout may function well for individuals, a family 

shelter noted the lack of privacy for adults with young children can create a hinderance. This was 

especially true for children who are potty training and would benefit from having a more dignified unit 

which includes its own restroom and shower. Furthermore, family sites operators expressed the 

significance of having a kitchen where parents could cook meals for their children and the importance of 
having a dedicated space for children to play. Operators for individual shelters did not place the same 
emphasis on a kitchen space but did comment some residents may prefer to independently cook their 

own meals rather than having them provided. Another model consisted of a dormitory style layout. This 
included numerous units with private restrooms, showers, and kitchenettes connected to a larger, 

shared space. With this design, residents are encouraged to foster and sustain their independence with 

their assigned unit. Operators of both small-scale housing unit layouts noted the significance of having 

communal spaces for residents to bond and be social with others living in their community. 

In addition to essential hygiene kits, food, and water, the programs and services offered at existing 

campuses fluctuated slightly. However, there was a consistent theme: wraparound support is crucial to 

ensure the success of residents. Case management, access to mental health services, access to 

healthcare (including preventive services), navigation with social services, assistance with obtaining 



 

 
 
documentation, and development of long-term goals helps create a multifaceted approach to address 

the needs of residents and contributes to their transition into stable, long-term housing. Operators at 
one site stressed the need for basic life skills to assist residents with courses on things such as learning to 

pay bills, using a computer, or having appropriate time management. 

 

Spectrum of Housing 

The causes and reasons people experience homelessness are diverse, and as such, the spectrum of 
housing options to address persons at their level of need is varied. The assortment of small-scale 
housing models available can be adapted to intersect housing situations at multiple points throughout 

the spectrum of housing of emergency shelter, transitional housing, and permanent supportive housing. 

Small-scale housing units can serve as quick, scalable solutions for emergency shelter during times of 

crisis by offering immediate relief and privacy compared to traditional emergency shelters. The ability for 

units to be rapidly deployed in designated areas allows for more flexible collaboration with local 

governments and organizations and can alleviate pressure on the existing emergency shelters. Moreover, 
the non-congregate setting provided by individual units has proven to be a more desirable model for 
residents of emergency shelters. One of the operators interviewed had a shelter campus with brick-and-
mortar congregate living as well as an area dedicated to non-congregate small-scale housing units. The 
operator reported when residents were given the choice, they would prefer to be assigned to the 
personal units rather than the congregate shelter, even though it meant having to walk farther to 

restrooms, kitchens, and communal spaces in inclement weather. 

Small-scale housing units may allow for a more traditional model of transitional housing by offering a 
more comfortable, stable living environment while individuals and families work towards more 

permanent solutions. This stage serves to help bridge the gap between emergency shelter and 

permanent housing, and the adaptability of small-scale housing units allows for individuals to live in a 

steady, non-congregate setting while focusing on their next step towards permanent housing.  

The severe shortage of permanent supportive housing is a critical and complex challenge which has 

resulted in longer stays for residents of a shelter system. Small-scale housing units can be part of a 
permanent supportive housing strategy by utilizing more comprehensive models which include more 
features and comforts for everyday living. This can include the build out of key living areas such as 

restrooms and kitchens in order to provide a sustainable place to live-long term. 

 

Advantages & Challenges 

While small-scale housing units offer a new approach to housing, their effectiveness in addressing 

homelessness involves a mix of advantages and challenges. A successful small-scale housing unit 
initiative must address the disadvantages while leveraging the benefits to create an effective housing 

solution. 

 



 

 
 
Advantages: 

1. Initial Affordability: The upfront cost of small-scale housing units can vary considerably; however, 
units are generally less expensive and faster to bring online than their brick-and-mortar 
counterparts. As a group, the models are not of the standard fit and finish typically expected of, 

or required, for the type of newly funded permanent housing apartments that are included in 

the Housing Funding Strategy. The models reviewed by the Ad Hoc ranged in price depending on 

scale, features, and resemblance to traditional housing. The pricing encompassed a spectrum. 

Some units were foldable, relocatable structures often installed without site-work or 

underground utilities. However, other units were permanent and utilized existing site work for 

foundations, in-unit toilets, and underground utilities. 

 When comparing the cost of small-scale housing units to traditional new construction, it is 
important to compare the total development cost which includes all required costs to bring the 

units into full, sustainable use, in addition to the cost of the units themselves. This consists of 
the installation of the models, financing, land acquisition, site work, utility connections, 

landscaping, and other features usually deemed necessary for development. Thus, because the 

units are low cost, the Ad Hoc sees the largest variable as the cost of the location, the as-is 
conditions of the location, the intended use of the units, and how the units will be situated. 

Most units were marketed for the price of the units themselves and excluded location-specific 

costs. It is important to consider the cost of site work, which might include ADA-compliant 
pathways and foundations, might constitute nearly three-quarters of the per-unit cost. 

2. Speed of Construction: Although the construction time varied, it is still notably faster than 

traditional construction. This quick turnaround time can allow for faster deployment and to 

address immediate needs for emergency or transitional housing. 
3. Customization and Design: The various models can be designed to meet the specific needs of 

their occupants, including accessibility features for individuals with disabilities or families. The 

level of customization can make them suitable for various populations in the spectrum of 
housing. 

4. Flexibility and Scalability: The small-scale housing units can be deployed in various 
configurations, including individual units or a connected dormitory.  Some models could be 
reconfigured post-installation. This flexibility allows for scalable solutions which can be adapted 

to different community needs and available spaces. 

Challenges: 

1. Limited Space: The size of small-scale housing units creates a limited space for living and storage, 

which can be challenging for some applications. The space restriction may not be suitable for 

larger families, those with significant belongings, or medical needs requiring larger equipment. 

Furthermore, those with lived experience noted some of the traumas faced by those 
experiencing homelessness may contribute to feelings of claustrophobia in smaller living areas. 

The sites visited by the Ad Hoc were spacious and pleasant, but at times were seen to be lacking 

some form of associated indoor community or meeting spaces. 



 

 
 

2. Zoning: The zoning of small-scale housing units can vary by county and city. Navigating though 

these regulatory barriers can hinder finding and acquiring land to use for any potential projects. 
3. Connection to Permanent Infrastructure: While developers offer connections to utility services, 

existing infrastructure must be on site to make the connection. Building out utilities such as 

water, sewage, and electricity, in an area where they did not previously exist could be costly and 

logistically complex. This may potentially reduce the overall cost effectiveness of a small-scale 
housing unit initiative. 

4. Maintenance and Upkeep: The upkeep to ensure small-scale housing units remain in good 

condition requires ongoing support and management. Although the units have lower up front 

cost, programs have reported significant effort to maintain the units to a livable standard. Since 
the small-scale housing unit industry is still emerging, there is not a long-standing track history 

of development to lean on to determine the shelf life of all the models. 
5. Operating Costs: Although small-scale housing units represent models which are less expensive 

up front and have potentially quicker deployment times than traditional options on the housing 

spectrum, their need for services and ongoing operational expenses are ever present. Similar to 
existing housing models, the expense to operate a small-scale housing unit campus encompasses 
a range of programs and services necessary to maintain and support the needs of the residents. 
Creating a full-bodied support system can include on-site case managers, partnerships with non-
profits and community business organizations, security, and other vital workers to provide a 

strong framework for assistance. These staffing costs can represent a significant cost of the 

overall budget depending on the needs of the residents.   

 

Permanent Supportive Housing 

As the need for permanent supportive housing intensifies, the search for innovative solutions to address 

the housing need increases. One of the most highlighted conversations surrounding the potential of 

small-scale housing units is their viability as an alternative to traditional permanent supportive housing. 

The process of assessing the effectiveness of small-scale housing units for this model requires a thorough 

examination of cost of the units and their sustainability, regulatory requirements, and resident 
receptiveness.  

As mentioned previously, small-scale housing units are able to be customized to suit the housing need. In 

order to align with existing permanent supportive housing requirements, the model would be more 

robust and comprehensive than those used for emergency shelter or transitional housing. While these 

more inclusive models still generally offer a lower up-front structure cost compared with traditional 

brick-and-mortar options, it is worth noting the uptick in price compared to the base models. 

Furthermore, it is imperative to recognize the emergence of the small-scale housing unit market in 

comparison to traditional models. While some aspects of construction align directly with conventional 
building, the niche space also includes pioneering features. This means there is not always a long-
standing review of the shelf life of the units or their required ongoing maintenance needs. These 
continuing costs should be included when determining the total investment of small-scale housing units.  



 

 
 
Additionally, understanding the cost of land acquisition and unique zoning and permitting is a crucial 
part of small-scale housing unit utilization. Cities and counties may have different regulations for building 
small-scale housing units which can impact the possible locations for development as well as the 

feasibility of their implementation as permanent supportive housing. This also encompasses making 

connections to utilities. Areas with pre-existing hookups may be cheaper than building in a new 

infrastructure, however they still may require site-work to accommodate a small-scale housing unit 
community. Considerations should be given to both the cost of the regulatory fees and the potential 

delays in development while navigating them.  

When discussing the potential of future permanent supportive housing, it is essential to recognize 

residents’ needs and receptiveness in the existing system. Based on the feedback from persons with 

lived experience, advocates, and service providers, there is a strong desire for units with at least one-
bedroom and 450 square feet of living space with an identifiable and private living area, sleeping area, 

full kitchen area, and full bathroom. Permanent supportive housing is intended to foster independent 

and sustainable living, and having a private living area, kitchen, and bathrooms provides residents the 

ability to cook and clean for themselves and manage their own home. Residents utilizing a project-based 
voucher are entitled to leave the project after one year of residency and obtain a tenant-based voucher. 
Both voucher programs are funded through the Housing Choice Voucher (HCV) Program, where choice of 

residence is an integral component. Potential residents can, and have, declined a unit which lacked their 
desired criteria even if it meant remaining in a shelter or continuing to experience homelessness. 

Moreover, units which are undesirable in size have greater turnover and are harder to fill as a result. 

 

Alignment to the Homeless Service System Pillars  

The Commission to End Homelessness leverages the established Homeless Service System Pillars Report 

for best practices and guiding principles to direct the delivery of homeless services in Orange County. 

Therefore, throughout the study and identification of small-scale housing units the Ad Hoc respected the 
foundation and framework of the Homeless Service System Pillars. A key piece of this process included 

analyzing the capability of small-scale housing units to align with the pillars to provide a multifaceted 
and structured approach to addressing homelessness. The site visits and interviews conducted by the Ad 

Hoc highlighted the potential for these units under the Shelter and Housing pillars. 

The Shelter pillar outlines a temporary residence which provides safety and protection from exposure 

and functions as a safety net during times of crisis for individuals and families experiencing 

homelessness. The goal of emergency shelter is to serve as the entry point into a broader array of 
supportive services, with linkages to longer term programs and/or permanent housing opportunities. 

Small-scale housing units are able to offer a secure, non-congregate setting for individuals needing relief. 

This approach can be particularly beneficial for individuals who may struggle with the communal nature 

of traditional shelters and enhance their comfort while they work towards more permanent housing 

stability. 

The Housing pillar defines the solution to end a person’s homelessness by providing a sustainable place 

to live long term. When considering the best practices of the Housing pillar, permanent supportive 

housing is tenant-centered to meet the residents’ need such as desired location and type of housing. 



 

 
 
Additionally, housing is expected to meet or exceed community standards so as to preserve residents’ 

right to self-determination, dignity, and respect. In the small-scale housing space, units can help foster a 
feeling of dignity and autonomy by providing residents with their own place. Having a dedicated living 

area can help individuals maintain privacy and develop a sense of ownership, which may be lacking in 

traditional shelter environments. Additionally, through the connection to supportive services and 

integration of communal spaces, residents can achieve the goal of having a stable living environment 

which allows them to focus on long-term goals while having a place to call home.  

 

Considerations 

The Ad Hoc evaluated the programming and funding of existing small-scale housing unit sites being used 

as a response to homelessness and determined several key considerations should be taken into account 

to ensure effectiveness and sustainability. 

1. Supportive Services: Each existing campus offered supportive services to residents to ensure 

wraparound care. These services included, but were not limited to, assistance with documents, 

mental health support, connection to treatment services and medical care, and referrals to local 
benefit programs and non-profits. The support system is a crucial piece towards more stable 

housing and self-sufficiency; therefore, it is imperative to ensure appropriate resources are 

available to meet residents at their level of need. Furthermore, budget consideration should be 

given to the cost of funding these supportive services.  
2. The Length of Stay: Consideration should be given to the timeline in which residents may stay in 

a small-scale housing unit. The length of stay for residents may vary depending on several factors 

including the specific program or housing model, the needs of the residents, and the availability 

of permanent housing options.  For example, through a collaborative approach between 

programs and the individuals, most residents across all campuses designed for emergency 

shelter had an average length of stay between three and nine months. However, this time frame 

could increase or decrease considerably for residents in transitional or permanent housing. 

Therefore, the program model and the expected length of stay for residents should be weighed 

when determining which small-scale housing model is appropriate to fit the need and the level 
at which it should be built out. 

3. Space Utilization: The design and layout of a small-scale housing unit can affect its capacity and 

functionality. To maximize space and utility, considerations for fire code, privacy, accessibility for 

those with disabilities, and communal areas needs to be thoughtful. 
4. Community Engagement: Some existing small-scale housing unit communities received pushback 

on their development during the beginning stages. Operators need to demonstrate the success 
of their project to address stakeholder concern and ensure the wellbeing of residents. 

5. Cost Management: The ongoing operations cost of running a small-scale housing unit campus 
can be extensive. This is because the programs and services offered may need to be more 

comprehensive. Additionally, the cost of any extra security should be considered. 
6. Ongoing Funding: State and federal funding may be limited in the small-scale housing unit space. 

State funding is limited and although there is federal funding for permanent supportive housing, 

vouchers are limited and already in short supply.  



 

 
 
Recommendations to the Board of Supervisors 

1. With the variety of models applied under the title “tiny home” it is recommended to use the 

term “Small-Scale Housing Units” (SSHU) when referencing this category of housing. 
2. Given the gamut of development options available it is feasible to utilize different models for 

targeted applications such as emergency shelter, transitional housing, or permanent supportive 

housing. It is recommended to consider the type of shelter of each application when 

implementing SSHU strategies and incorporate the best practices and guiding principles outlined 

in the Pillar Report for the applicable Pillar being implemented. For example, when considering 

permanent supportive housing, a more robust living quarters within the development of model 

should be applied. 
3. It is recommended to consider small-scale housing units when exploring housing funding 

opportunities.  
4. It is recommended to engage with local stakeholders, including potential residents, local officials, 

and advocacy groups during the planning and development process of a small-scale housing unit 

development to foster acceptance. 
5. It is recommended to consider the small-scale housing unit type (emergency shelter, transitional 

housing, or permanent supportive housing), size, location, funding (both capital and ongoing), 

available locations, and partnerships when determining the feasibility of potential pilot 

programs.  
6. It is recommended to direct the County of Orange to explore a Small-Scale Housing Pilot that 

would seek to potentially utilize new housing construction models, new financing strategies, and 

explore funding streams, all in support of increasing the viability of small-scale infill 

development. Suggested parameters for such a Pilot would be split into two categories, 

Permanent Housing and Temporary Housing.  



Agenda Item 4 



SUMMARY ACTION MINUTES 
 

MINUTES – COMMISSION TO END HOMELESSNESS, AUGUST 21, 2024 - PAGE 1 

REGULAR MEETING 
COMMISSION TO END HOMELESSNESS 

 
Wednesday, August 21, 2024, 1:00 P.M. 

 
County Conference Center 

Room 104/106 
425 West Santa Ana Boulevard, Santa Ana, CA 92701 

 
Vicente Sarmiento, Chair 

Supervisor, Second District 
Donald P. Wagner 
Supervisor, Third District 

Jack Toan, Vice Chair 
Business Representative  

Jason Ivins 
Orange County Sheriff-Coroner Representative 

Todd Spitzer 
Orange County District Attorney  

Adam Hawley 
Chief of Police Representative 

Sean deMetropolis 
Municipal Fire Department Representative 

Jim Vanderpool 
North Service Planning Area Representative 

Monique Davis 
Business Representative  

Debra Rose 
South Service Planning Area Representative 

Lisa Kim 
Central Service Planning Area Representative 

Cecilia Bustamante-Pixa 
Hospital Representative 

Gina Cunningham 
Affordable Housing Development Representative 

Kelly Bruno-Nelson 
Medi-Cal Managed Care Health Plan Representative 

Richard Afable 
Behavioral Health Representative 

Susan Parks 
Philanthropic Leader Representative 

Benjamin Hurst 
Faith-Based Community Representative 

Paul Wyatt 
At-Large Representative 

Milo Peinemann 
At-Large Representative 

Robert Morse 
Continuum of Care Board Representative 

Maricela Rios-Faust 
Continuum of Care Board Representative 

 
ATTENDANCE: Commissioners Afable, Bruno-Nelson, Bustamante-Pixa, Cunningham, deMetropolis, 

Hawley, Hurst, Ivins, Kim, Morse, Peinemann, Rose, Young (for Spitzer), Toan, Wagner 
and Wyatt 

 
ABSENT:    Commissioners Davis, Parks, Rios-Faust, Sarmiento and Vanderpool 
 
PRESENT: COMMISSION DIRECTOR  Doug Becht, Director of Care Coordination 
 CLERK OF THE COMMISSION  Valerie Sanchez, Chief Deputy Clerk  
 

Call to Order 
VICE CHAIRMAN TOAN CALLED THE MEETING TO ORDER AT 1:00 P.M. 

 
Pledge of Allegiance 
COMMISSIONER CUNNINGHAM LED THE PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. 
 
Roll Call 
THE CLERK CALLED THE ROLL AND CONFIRMED QUORUM WAS MET 



SUMMARY ACTION MINUTES 
 

MINUTES – COMMISSION TO END HOMELESSNESS, AUGUST 21, 2024 - PAGE 2 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Paul Hyek – Oral Re: Shelters need nurses and people certified for first aid instead of calling emergency; 
cold weather shelters should be walk in/walk out 
 
Carrie Buck – Oral Re: Family Solutions Collaborative asks Commissioners to use a family lens when 
making decisions because there are over 500 families waiting for housing and there are not enough 
vouchers and not enough housing units available 
 
DISCUSSION ITEMS 
 

1. Office of Care Coordination Update 
a. Membership Ad Hoc 
b. Bylaws Ad Hoc 
c. Cold Weather Shelter Ad Hoc – Inclement Weather Request for Proposals 
d. 2025 Survey 
e. Tiny Homes Ad Hoc 

 
THE COMMISSION WELCOMED NEW MEMBER CECILIA BUSTAMANTE-PIXA; THE 
BYLAWS AD HOC MET AND IS REVIEWING DRAFT CHANGES WITH AN UPDATE TO 
THE COMMISSION EXPECTED IN OCTOBER; THE COLD WEATHER SHELTER AD HOC 
MET AND THE OFFICE OF CARE COORDINATION IS RELEASING A REQUEST FOR 
PROPOSALS TO SELECT A PROVIDER TO OVERSEE COORDINATION OF SHELTER FOR 
ALL INCLEMENT WEATHER CONDITIONS; A 2025 SURVEY IS PLANNED FOR THE YEAR 
IN BETWEEN POINT-IN-TIME COUNTS TO GATHER ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND 
DIVE DEEPER INTO THE DATA; AND THE TINY HOMES AD HOC WILL RETURN AT THE 
OCTOBER MEETING WITH THEIR FINDINGS 
 

PRESENTATIONS 
 

2. U.S. Supreme Court Ruling: Grants Pass – Laura Knapp, County Counsel 
PRESENTATION PROVIDED BY SUPERVISING DEPUTY COUNTY COUNSEL, LAURA 
KNAPP, COVERING THE JOHNSON V. CITY OF GRANTS PASS DECISION BY THE US 
SUPREME COURT FINDING THAT LOCALITIES MAY IMPOSE CRIMINAL PENALTIES 
FOR ACTS LIKE PUBLIC CAMPING AND PUBLIC SLEEPING WITHOUT VIOLATING THE 
EIGHTH AMENDMENT, AND THE RESULTING IMPLICATIONS FOR ORANGE COUNTY 
INCLUDING THE GOVERNOR’S EXECUTIVE ORDER ON ENCAMPMENTS 

 
 
 
 
 
 



SUMMARY ACTION MINUTES 
 

MINUTES – COMMISSION TO END HOMELESSNESS, AUGUST 21, 2024 - PAGE 3 

ACTION ITEMS 
 

3. Approve Commission to End Homelessness minutes from the June 19, 2024 regular meeting 
ON THE MOTION OF COMMISSIONER WAGNER, SECONDED BY COMMISSIONER 
CUNNINGHAM, THE COMMISSION UNANIMOUSLY APPROVED THE MINUTES OF 
THE JUNE 19, 2024 REGULAR MEETING. 

 
COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
Commissioner Hurst – Oral re: The Bylaws Ad Hoc engagement was strong with enthusiasm for the 
potential impact the commission can have 
 
Commissioner Morse – Oral re: Thanked Commissioner Bruno-Nelson for appointing him to the Costa 
Mesa Street Medicine Committee  
 
Commissioner Bruno-Nelson – Oral re: Announced press conference was held to roll out its second 
Street Medicine Program in Costa Mesa and plans further expansion to more cities in the future 
 
ADJOURNED:   3:05 P.M. 
 
NEXT MEETING:   October 2, 2024, 1:00 P.M. 
 
 
 
                                     
       Supervisor Vicente Sarmiento 
       Chair 
 
     
Valerie Sanchez, Chief Deputy Clerk of the Board 
Clerk of the Commission 


	C2EH Agenda - October 2024
	Item 1 
	Federal Homelessness Prevention Framework
	Item 2
	Small-Scale Housing Unit Report
	Item 4
	C2EH 8/21/24 Regular Meeting SAM



